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Model Managed Investment Scheme Half Year Report  

Please find enclosed our model managed investment scheme half year report for the period ending 31 December 2010. It has 
been designed by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu to assist clients, partners and staff with the preparation of half year reports for a 
managed investment scheme in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 

This publication is in four sections, the first sets out an update on developments in financial reporting that are relevant to half 
year financial reports at 31 December 2010, the second provides a guide to interim financial reporting, the third is an illustrative 
example of a half year financial report for a consolidated fund, and the fourth provides an indicative checklist for interim financial 
reporting presentation and disclosure. 

The model managed investment scheme half year report is not designed to meet all the needs of specialised funds, rather they 
are intended to meet the needs of the vast majority of funds in complying with the half year reporting requirements under 
Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001. 

Australia’s adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) has increased the complexity faced by responsible 
entities in preparing financial reports for funds, and there continues to be debate around the application of IFRS and Australian 
Accounting Standards. Where such complexities arise, we would welcome your call to provide advice and assistance.  

We trust that you will find the model managed investment scheme half year report a useful tool in the preparation of your half 
year report.  
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Section A 

What’s new for financial reports at 31 December 2010? 

Contents Page  

1. Key considerations for the current reporting cycle 1 

How does the continuing worldwide economic uncertainty, the Taxation of Financial  

Arrangements amendments and ASIC’s likely focus areas impact financial reporting? 

2. Summary of new and revised accounting pronouncements 5 

Our tables, extracted from our popular ‘What’s new in financial reporting’ checklists,  

include a brief overview of each new pronouncement and their effective dates. We  

regularly update the checklist – visit www.deloitte.com.au for the latest summary.  
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1. Key considerations for the current reporting cycle 

Managing out of volatile times 

Financial markets have been characterised by significant volatility in recent times. The market has been recovering in Australia 

but there is still a significant way to go for many international economies. The threat of future shocks cannot be discounted with 

significant uncertainty about future prospects for financial markets. 

Impact on financial reporting 

The current economic climate and the resultant volatility in financial markets presents entities with ongoing challenges in 

complying with IFRS. 

The table below provides a broader perspective on the areas of IFRS that may require additional attention in the current 

financial climate: 

Area Example considerations 

Investments • ‘Available-for-sale’ reserves that are in debit (losses) may need to be recycled to the statement 
of comprehensive income, directly impacting profit or loss 

• Subsequent increases in value of available-for-sale equity investments are recognised in equity 
rather than profit or loss 

Financial instruments • Some instruments may continue to present difficulties in determining fair value 

• Impact of counterparty risk on fair values  

• Reassess likelihood that group guarantees may be called upon 

• Whether contracts which previously met the ‘own use’ exemption under AASB 139 are no 
longer able to meet the exemption requirements due to contracts being net settled or changes 
in expected supply and demand 

Impairment • Underlying assumptions on cash flows used in valuation models need to be recalibrated to 
reflect new economic conditions 

• Changes, both positive and negative, in short term interest rates and risk premiums, and their 
effects on discount rates, need monitoring 

• Inflation assumptions may be difficult to determine 

• Interaction with segment reporting standard (AASB 8) needs to be considered in relation to the 
level at which goodwill is tested for impairment 

Loans, borrowings and 
other financing 

• Classification of debt as current or non-current in light of actual and potential covenant 
breaches and unusual embedded terms 

• Careful review of new and/or renegotiated borrowing facilities to identify key covenants and 
other compliance consideration and ensure these are monitored 

• Possibility of embedded derivatives in old or newly renegotiated contracts that may have value 
in the current climate, even if previously immaterial or not identified 
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Disclosure considerations for December 2010 half year reports 

Whilst the volume of disclosure in interim reports is generally less than required at the full year, there are a number of important 

disclosure requirements that must nevertheless be considered in interim financial reports. In particular, AASB 134 Interim 

Financial Reporting establishes the principle that interim disclosures should be those that are useful in understanding the 

changes in financial position and performance of the fund since the end of the last annual reporting period. 

The IASB has amended IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting as part of the Improvements to IFRSs 2010 project to emphasise 

the existing disclosure principles in IAS 34 that the disclosure about significant events and transactions in interim periods should 

update the relevant information presented in the most recent annual financial report. It also clarifies how to apply these 

principles in respect of financial instruments and their fair values. The IASB noted that in accordance with IAS 34, an interim 

financial report provides an update on the latest complete set of annual financial statements. When an event or transaction is 

significant to an understanding of the changes in a scheme’s financial position or performance since the last annual financial 

period, in accordance with IAS 34 its interim financial report should provide an explanation of, and update to, the information 

included in the financial report for the last annual financial period. The IASB concluded that IAS 34 provides sufficient guidance 

to enable entities to decide whether updates to fair value disclosures are required in interim financial reports but decided to 

amend IAS 34 to place greater emphasis on those principles and the inclusion of additional examples relating to more recent 

disclosure requirements, to improve interim financial reporting. The following additional disclosures are provided in the 

amended IAS 34: 

• changes in the business or economic circumstances that affect the fair value of the scheme’s financial assets and financial 

liabilities, whether those assets or liabilities are recognised at fair value or amortised cost 

• transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy used in measuring the fair value of financial instruments 

• changes in the classification of financial assets as a result of a change in the purpose or use of those assets 

The amended standard is effective from annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Earlier application is permitted. 

Under the existing standard, while every fund will face different facts and circumstances some of the major areas where the 

need for updates to annual disclosure may arise as a result of the current economic climate include: 

• Judgements made in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty (AASB 101) 

• Financial instrument disclosure – liquidity and market risk, fair values of financial instruments, defaults and breaches 

(AASB 7) 

• Events after the balance sheet date (AASB 110) 

Taxation of Financial Arrangements 

Legislation introducing new requirements for the taxation of financial arrangements (TOFA) received Royal Assent on 26 March 

2009. Where TOFA applies to a taxpayer’s financial arrangements, the TOFA reforms provide taxpayers with different options 

as to the recognition of assessable income and allowable deductions in respect of certain financial assets and liabilities 

(financial instruments). The new options available are largely aligned with the treatment specified in the accounting 

requirements of AASB 121 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation 

and AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Currently the tax treatment of financial instruments is a 

mixture of the cash and accruals basis of realisation, which may result in significant temporary differences when comparing 

accounting carrying values and tax bases, often creating problems with systems, cash flow management and franking capacity. 

In broad terms, where TOFA applies, taxpayers will be taxed on financial arrangements under an accruals/realisation based 

approach unless they choose to align the tax treatment of financial instruments more closely with accounting by electing to 

adopt the fair value, hedging, retranslation and/or financial reports approaches for tax purposes, provided they meet the 

requirements for those elections.  

The new rules where applicable are mandatory for income years beginning on or after 1 July 2010. 
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Impact on financial reporting 

With the adoption of the new TOFA rules, the main impact on financial reporting at 31 December 2010 will, depending on the 

elections made by the scheme be a change in the tax base of certain financial instruments, thereby impacting the fund’s 

deferred tax balances (to the extent relevant) . The transitional requirements of the TOFA rules can also create additional 

deferred taxes in some cases.  These changes are on the basis TOFA applies to the relevant taxpayer. 

However, because of the strong linkage to accounting outcomes under the TOFA rules, there will be an increased emphasis on 

accounting measurements where they are also used for tax purposes. In addition, there may be some impacts on the market 

value of instruments, or other changes to tax structures that have indirect impacts on financial reporting measures, impairment 

of financial instruments and so on.  Accordingly, entities should assess if TOFA applies and consider their options under the 

TOFA rules, including consideration of both the direct and indirect financial reporting impacts. 

TOFA is new law that is complex.  Accordingly, responsible entities, administrators and fund managers should seek advice from 

a TOFA specialist for further assistance. 

‘Non statutory profit’ disclosures 

In mid-March 2009, guidance was issued by the Australian Institute of Company Directors (AICD) and Financial Services 

Institute of Australia (Finsia) in relation to ‘non-statutory profit’ disclosures in financial reports. Concern had been raised about 

widespread use of different ‘non-statutory profit’ disclosures, which in the view of the AICD and Finsia can nonetheless be 

valuable information for users of the financial information. The AICD and Finsia guidance seeks to encourage companies to 

disclose any non-statutory measure of profit in a responsible and consistent manner. Key aspects of the guidance include: 

• The recommendation that any non-statutory measure of profit disclosed be termed ‘underlying profit’ 

• The establishment of seven principles to reporting underlying profit, including a principle that ‘underlying profit’ be reconciled 

to net profit (NP) included in statutory financial reports 

• Examples of the common items that adjust NP to arrive at underlying profit 

• A suggestion that companies following the guidance should disclose that fact. 

Impact on financial reporting 

Whilst there is no direct impact of the guidance on the financial reports themselves, entities should reassess financial 

information disclosed elsewhere in financial reports in light of the guidance. 

Key questions directors should ask when it comes to underlying profit are: 

• Is management presenting the underlying profit and the accompanying reconciliation in a balanced manner?  

• Has the scheme adopted a transparent and consistent approach to the reporting of adjustments so that they are clear and 

comparable between reporting periods?  

• Are the adjustments consistent with other industry players? If not, why?  

• Is there a trend in the underlying profit adjustments across reporting periods?  

• How does the growing prevalence of underlying profit impact executive remuneration measures? 
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ASIC’s focus areas 

In July 2010, the Australian Securities & Investments Commission (ASIC) issued a media release to share findings from its 

review of the 31 December 2009 reports and the focus areas for the 30 June 2010 reporting season. These areas of focus will 

continue to be instructive for the December 2010 reporting season. 

Some of the key areas noted include: 

• Going concern – appropriateness of the going concern assumption, ability to refinance debt and compliance with lending 
covenants 

• Asset impairment – reasonableness of discount and growth rates uses, length of cash flow projections, cash-generating units 
used for testing goodwill impairment, sensitivity analysis and disclosure of assumptions used in DCF calculations 

• Fair Value – disclosure of methods and significant assumptions applied in determining the fair value of investment properties, 
classification of fair value measurements of financial assets into the fair value hierarchy and use of fair value for intangible 
assets 

• Off balance sheet exposure – treatment of off balance sheet arrangements 

• Financial instruments – insufficient disclosures of the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments 

• Current vs non-current classification of liabilities and assets 

• Other areas – adequate disclosure of significant judgements in applying accounting policies, and key assumptions and 
sources of estimation uncertainty, disclosure of subsequent events, appropriate revenue and expense recognition, non-
statutory profit measures, quality of the operating and financial review, segment reporting, classification of items between 
profit and loss and other comprehensive income, accounting for business combinations and consolidation and accounting for 
non-recourse loans provided to employees to buy shares. 

Impact on financial reporting 

Whilst there are no direct financial reporting impacts of the ASIC guidance, it is important that entities carefully heed the ASIC's 

advice and pay particular attention to the areas highlighted. 
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2. Summary of new and revised accounting pronouncements 

Unlike 2009, the current reporting season has not resulted in significant changes in reporting requirements and there is not 

expected to be substantial impact to half year reports. Management should continue to assess new and accounting 

pronouncements and the impact on financial reports. We have summarised the pronouncements below. 

The information in this section is updated throughout the reporting season in our ‘What’s new’ summary, available at 
http://www.deloitte.com/au/WhatsNew  

 

New and revised IFRS-equivalent Standards 

The tables below outline the new and revised accounting pronouncements that are either to be applied for the first time at 31 

December 2010, or which may be early adopted at that date. In the majority of cases, the disclosure requirements of the 

pronouncements listed in the tables below would not be applicable to half year financial reports. However, where relevant, the 

recognition and measurement requirements of any relevant pronouncements would be applied where those pronouncements 

have been adopted by the scheme. As occurs so often with changes to accounting standards and financial reporting 

requirements, some of the other new or revised pronouncements listed in the tables below may have a substantial impact on 

particular entities. Therefore, it is important that the pronouncements listed are carefully reviewed for any potential impacts or 

opportunities. Where early adoption is being contemplated, it is important to address any necessary procedural requirements, 

e.g. for entities reporting under the Corporations Act 2001, appropriate director's resolutions for early adoption must be made 

under s.334(5). Disclosure in the financial statements must also be addressed. In addition, the disclosure requirements required 

in relation to new and revised accounting pronouncements need to be carefully considered even where they have not yet been 

adopted.  

New or revised requirement When effective 

Applicability to  

31 December 2010 

half years 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 

AASB 9 introduces new requirements for classifying and 
measuring financial assets, as follows: 

• Debt instruments meeting both a 'business model' test and a 
'cash flow characteristics' test are measured at amortised cost 
(the use of fair value is optional in some limited circumstances)  

• Investments in equity instruments can be designated as 'fair 
value through other comprehensive income' with only dividends 
being recognised in profit or loss  

• All other instruments (including all derivatives) are measured at 
fair value with changes recognised in the profit or loss  

• The concept of 'embedded derivatives' does not apply to 
financial assets within the scope of the Standard and the entire 
instrument must be classified and measured in accordance with 
the above guidelines. 

Applies on a modified 

retrospective basis to annual 

periods beginning on or after 

January 1, 2013 

Optional 
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New or revised domestic Standards 

New or revised requirement When effective 

Applicability to  

31 December 2010 half 

years 

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting 
Standards and AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements 

These Standards together implement ‘stage 1’ of the AASB’s revised 
differential reporting regime. 

AASB 1053 establishes a differential financial reporting framework 
consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for general purpose 
financial statements: 

• Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards  

• Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements (‘RDR’).  

AASB 2010-2 makes amendments to each Standard and Interpretation 
indicating the disclosures not required to be made by ‘Tier 2’ entities. In 
some cases, additional ‘RDR” paragraphs are inserted requiring 
simplified disclosures. 

The following entities apply either Tier 2 (RDR) or Tier 1 (‘full’ 
Australian Accounting Standards) in preparing general purpose 
financial statements: 

• For-profit private sector entities that do not have public accountability  

• All not-for-profit private sector entities  

• Public sector entities other than Federal, State, Territory and Local 
Governments.  

Regulators may have the power to require the application of ‘full’ 
Australian Accounting Standards (Tier 1) by the entities they regulate. 

Note: The AASB is yet to consider RDR simplifications to certain 
standards, including AASB 4, AASB 1023, AASB 1038 and AAS 25. 
These will be subject of an additional consultative document. 'Stage 2' 
of the AASB's differential reporting project will consider whether to 
extend these arrangements to all financial statements prepared under 
Australian Accounting Standards, including entities currently 
considered 'non-reporting entities'. 

 

The general consensus for registered Managed Investment 
Schemes is that they are considered to be publicly accountable 
entities and therefore would fall within Tier 1. 

Applies to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2013 but may 
be early adopted for annual 
reporting period beginning 
on or after 1 July 2009 

Optional (for eligible 
entities) 
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New Amending Standards 

The table below lists the Amending Standards that do not relate to the pronouncements listed in other tables. 

New or revised requirement  When effective 

Applicability to 
December 31, 2010 
full years 

AASB 2009-5 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Annual Improvements Process 

Introduces amendments into Accounting Standards that are equivalent to 
those made by the IASB under its program of annual improvements to its 
standards. A number of the amendments are largely technical, clarifying 
particular terms, or eliminating unintended consequences. 

Other changes are more substantial, such as the current/non-current 
classification of convertible instruments, the classification of expenditures on 
unrecognised assets in the statement of cash flows and the classification of 
leases of land and buildings. 

Note: The amendments made to the guidance to AASB 118 ‘Revenue’ 
regarding determining whether an scheme is acting as agent or principal have 
no explicit application date and we understand that they are taken to be 
immediately applicable. 

Applies to annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 
January 2010 

(see note in previous 
column regarding 
guidance in AASB 118) 

Mandatory 

AASB 2010-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from the Annual Improvements Project 

Amends a number of pronouncements as a result of the IASB's 2008-2010 
cycle of annual improvements to provide clarification of certain matters. 

The key clarifications include: 

• The measurement of non-controlling interests in a business combination  

• Transition requirements for contingent consideration from a business 
combination that occurred before the effective date of the revised AASB 3 
Business Combinations (2008)  

• Transition requirements for amendments arising as a result of AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. 

Applies to annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 
July 2010 

Mandatory 

AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Annual Improvements Project 

Amends a number of pronouncements as a result of the IASB's 2008-2010 
cycle of annual improvements. 

Key amendments include: 

• Financial statement disclosures - clarification of content of statement of 
changes in equity (AASB 101), financial instrument disclosures (AASB 7) 
and significant events and transactions in interim reports (AASB 134)  

• Interpretation 13 - fair value of award credits  

• AASB 1 - accounting policy changes in year of adoption and amendments 
to deemed cost (revaluation basis, regulatory assets). 

Applies to annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 
January 2011 

Optional 
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New and revised Interpretations 

New or revised requirement  When effective 

Applicability to  
December 31, 2010  
full years 

Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Liabilities with Equity Instruments and 
AASB 2009-13 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from Interpretation 19 

Interpretation 19 requires the extinguishment of a financial liability by the 
issue of equity instruments to be measured at fair value (preferably using the 
fair value of the equity instruments issued) with the difference between the fair 
value of the instruments issued and the carrying value of the liability 
extinguished being recognised in profit or loss. The Interpretation does not 
apply where the conversion terms were included in the original contract (such 
as in the case of convertible debt) or to common control transactions. 

Applies to annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 
July 2010 (applied 
retrospectively from the 
beginning of the earliest 
comparative period 
presented) 

Mandatory 

 

Pronouncements approved by the IASB/IFRIC where an equivalent pronouncement has not been issued by the AASB 

New or revised requirement  When effective 

Applicability to  
December 31, 2010  
full years 

International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized 
Entities (IFRS for SMEs) 

This Standard provides an alternative framework that can be applied by 
eligible entities in place of the full set of International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) on issue. 

The IFRS for SMEs is a self-contained Standard, incorporating accounting 
principles that are based on full IFRSs but that have been simplified to suit the 
entities within its scope (known as SMEs). By removing some accounting 
treatments permitted under full IFRSs, eliminating topics and disclosure 
requirements that are not generally relevant to SMEs, and simplifying 
requirements for recognition and measurement, the IFRS for SMEs reduces 
the volume of accounting requirements applicable to SMEs by more than 90 
per cent when compared with the full set of IFRSs. 

The IASB has not set an 
effective date for the 
Standard because the 
decision as to whether to 
adopt the IFRS for SMEs 
(and also, therefore, the 
timing for adoption) is a 
matter for each 
jurisdiction 

The AASB has 
tentatively decided 
not to implement 
the IFRS for SMEs 
in the Australian 
context at this time, 
instead proposing 
eliminating the 
reporting entity 
concept and 
introducing a 
‘reduced disclosure 
regime’ (RDR), refer 
to AASB 1053 
Application of Tiers 
of Australian 
Accounting 
Standards above. 

 

The Deloitte ‘What’s new’ checklists provide a single source of reference for current and future financial reporting 
requirements, with cross references to our analysis of developments as they occurred. These checklists are updated 
regularly – visit ‘Financial reporting tools’ on www.deloitte.com.au for developments post November 2010. 
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ASIC class orders 

The following significant and relevant class orders have been released by the ASIC: 

Release 
number Date Subject 

98/96 10/07/98 Permits foreign controlled companies, registered schemes and disclosing entities to synchronise 
their financial year with that of their ultimate foreign parent entity where the foreign parent is 
required by law to synchronise the financial years of subsidiaries provided certain conditions are 
satisfied. 

98/100 10/07/98 Permits rounding off in the directors’ report and financial report where total assets exceed $10 
million, $1,000 million and $10,000 million.  

98/101 10/07/98 Relieves public companies, registered schemes and disclosing entities from the requirement to 
send a full or concise financial report to shareholders where the entity cannot establish the 
address of a shareholder, provided certain conditions are satisfied. 

98/104 10/07/98 Relieves listed entities from the requirement to lodge a copy of their financial report, directors’ 
report and auditors’ report for the financial year and half-year with the ASIC where those reports 
have already been lodged with the ASX. Where a concise financial report has been prepared it 
must be lodged with the ASX along with the full financial report. 

98/2016 30/10/98 Relieves entities from the disclosing entity requirements of Chapter 2M of the Corporations Act 
2001 where the entity ceases to be a disclosing entity before their deadline and the directors 
resolve that there are no reasons to believe that the entity may become a disclosing entity before 
the end of the next financial year. 

98/2395 24/12/98 Allows companies, registered schemes and disclosing entities to include certain information 
otherwise required to be disclosed in the directors’ report to be transferred to a document attached 
to the financial report and directors’ report. 

99/90 11/02/99 Relieves companies, registered schemes and disclosing entities from sending full financial reports 
or concise reports to members who made an open-ended standing request in writing under an 
earlier ASIC class order to be sent neither full financial statements or a short report. 

05/639 26/07/05 Allows non-reporting entities to take advantage of concessions or other modifications of the 
recognition and measurement requirements of accounting standards that are available to reporting 
entities, provided that the financial report complies with all recognition and measurement 
requirements as if it were an ‘eligible reporting entity’.  

05/642 29/07/05 Permits issuers of stapled securities to include their financial statements and the consolidated or 
combined financial statements of the stapled group in adjacent columns in one financial report, 
provided certain conditions are satisfied.  

05/644 29/07/05 Permits the presentation of a pro forma statement of financial position in the notes to the financial 
statements to explain the financial effect of material acquisitions and disposals of entities and 
businesses after the balance date.  

06/441 29/06/06 Permits registered schemes with a common responsible entity (or related responsible entities) to 
include their financial statements in adjacent columns in a single financial report, provided certain 
conditions are satisfied. Replaces ASIC Class Order 05/643. 

08/15 18/01/08 Relieves a disclosing entity from the requirement to prepare and lodge a half-year financial report 
and directors' report during the first financial year of the entity, where that first financial year lasts 
for 8 months or less, provided certain conditions are satisfied.  

10/654 26/07/10 Allows companies, registered schemes and disclosing entities that present consolidated financial 
statements to include their own parent entity financial statements as part of their full year financial 
report or concise report under Chapter 2M of the Act. Entities taking advantage of the relief are 
not required to present the summary parent entity information otherwise required by regulation 
2M.3.01. The directors’ declaration and auditor’s report must include the relevant opinions in 
relation to the parent entity financial statements and related notes. 
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1. Interim reporting requirements in Australia 

1.1 Requirement for a disclosing entity to prepare a half year financial report and directors’ report  

A disclosing entity incorporated or formed in Australia must: [s.302]  

(a) prepare a financial report and directors’ report for each half year; and 

(b) have the financial report audited or reviewed and obtain an auditor’s report; and 

(c) lodge the financial report, the directors’ report and the auditor’s report on the financial report with ASIC; unless the fund is 

not a disclosing entity when lodgment is due. 

Disclosing entities include: 

• Listed entities and listed registered funds; 

• Entities and registered funds which raise funds pursuant to a prospectus; 

• Entities and registered funds which offer securities other than debentures as consideration for an acquisition of shares in a 
target Fund under a takeover fund; and 

• Entities whose securities are issued under a compromise or scheme of arrangement. 

 

For more information about disclosing entities, refer to the Deloitte 2010 Model Managed Investment Scheme Annual Report. 

1.2 Half year reporting deadlines  

The following table summarises the reporting deadlines for half year reporting periods ending 31 December 2010.  

Note: While these reporting deadlines will be applicable to the majority of entities, care should be taken to ensure that the dates 

noted below are the appropriate dates for the fund in question: 

 Reporting deadlines 

Requirement Listed disclosing 
entity 

Non-listed disclosing 
entity 

Lodgment of Appendix 4D with the ASX 28 Feb 2011 Not applicable 

Lodgment of the Corporations Act 2001 half year report with the ASX 28 Feb 2011 Not applicable 

Lodgment of the Corporations Act 2001 half year report with the ASIC Not applicable  
(ASIC-CO 98/104) 

16 Mar 2011 

1.3 The Corporations Act 2001 half year financial report  

The financial report for a half year consists of [s.303(1)]:  

(a) the financial statements for the half year; and 

(b) the notes to the financial statements; and 

(c) the directors’ declaration about the statements and notes.  

The financial statements for the half year are the financial statements in relation to the fund reported on that are required by the 

accounting standards, and if required by the accounting standards, the financial statements in relation to the consolidated fund 

that are required by the accounting standards. [s.303(2)] (see section 2.4) AASB 134 specifies the requirements in respect of 

the financial statements and notes for the half year. The notes to the financial statements include disclosures required by the 

Corporations Regulations 2001, notes required by the accounting standards, and any other information necessary to give a true 

and fair view. [s.303(3)] 
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The directors’ declaration is a declaration by the directors [s.303(4)]: 

• whether, in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the disclosing entity will be able to pay its 

debts as and when they become due and payable; and 

• whether, in the directors’ opinion, the financial statement and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including: 

– s.304 (compliance with accounting standards and regulations); and 

– s.305 (true and fair view). 

The declaration must be made in accordance with a resolution of the directors, specify the day on which the declaration is 

made, and be signed by a director.  

An illustrative half year financial report is included in Section C of this publication. 

1.4  The Corporations Act 2001 directors’ report 

The directors’ report for a half year must be made in accordance with a resolution of the directors, specify the date on which the 

report is made and be signed by a director. [s.306(3)] 

The directors’ report for each half year consists of [s.306]: 

(a) a review of the fund’s operations during the half year and the results of those operations. If consolidated financial 

statements are required, the review must cover the consolidated fund; and 

(b) the name of each person who has been a director of the disclosing entity at any time during or since the end of the half 

year and the period for which they were a director; and 

(c) a copy of the auditor’s declaration under section 307C (auditor’s independence declaration) in relation to the audit or review 

for the half year; and 

(d)  if the financial report for a half year includes additional information under paragraph 303(3)(c) (information included to give 

a true and fair view of financial position and performance, see section 2.1.1), the directors’ reasons for forming the opinion 

that the inclusion of that additional information was necessary to give the true and fair view required by section 305 and 

specify where that information can be found in the financial report. 

1.5 Signing the half year report 

The directors’ report and directors’ declaration must be prepared and signed off in time to comply with the lodgment and 

distribution deadlines of the Corporations Act 2001. 

The directors’ report and directors’ declaration (made out in accordance with a director’s resolution) need only be signed by one 

director, for example, the chairman of the board. The board of directors can however choose to have more than one director 

sign the directors’ report or directors’ declaration. 
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2. Content of an interim financial report 

2.1 General principles underlying the preparation of financial statements 

If a fund presents a complete set of financial statements for interim reporting purposes (as described in AASB 101 Presentation 

of Financial Statements (2007), it must apply AASB 101(2007) in full. If a fund presents a condensed set of financial statements 

for interim reporting purposes, AASB 101(2007).4 contains the following guidance. 

“This Standard does not apply to the structure and content of condensed interim financial statements prepared in accordance 

with AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting. However, paragraphs 15 – 35 apply to such financial statements.” 

Paragraphs 15 – 35 of AASB 101(2007), which therefore apply when preparing all interim financial reports (whether condensed 

or complete), deal with: 

• fair presentation and compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRSs); 

• going concern; 

• accrual basis of accounting; 

• materiality and aggregation; and 

• offsetting. 

2.1.1 True and fair view 

The financial statements and notes for a half year must give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the 

disclosing entity, or, if consolidated financial statements are required, of the financial position and performance of the 

consolidated fund. [s.305] Financial statements and notes thereto prepared to satisfy the reporting requirements of the 

Corporations Act 2001 must comply with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001 [s.304], even 

if compliance does not result in a true and fair view. Section 303(3)(c) of the Corporations Act 2001 requires directors to provide 

additional information and explanations when compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 

Regulations 2001 would not give a true and fair view. This additional information and explanation should be given by way of a 

note to the financial statements. 

A Fund may apply to the ASIC under s.340 of the Corporations Act 2001 for accounting and audit relief. ASIC Regulatory Guide 

43 indicates the ASIC’s interpretation of the preconditions which need to be satisfied in order to obtain relief. 

2.2 Minimum components 

Entities reporting in accordance with AASB 134 are required to include in their interim financial reports, at a minimum, the 

following components:  

[AASB 134.8] 

• a condensed statement of financial position; 

• a condensed statement of comprehensive income, presented as either: 

– a condensed single statement; or 

– a condensed separate income statement and a condensed statement of comprehensive income; 

• a condensed statement of changes in equity; 

• a condensed statement of cash flows; and 

• selected explanatory notes. 

If, in its annual financial statements, a fund presents the components of profit or loss in a separate income statement as 

described in AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (2007).81, it should also present interim condensed information in 

a separate statement. [AASB 134.8A] 

Note that the titles of the financial statements listed above have been amended as a consequential amendment of AASB 

101(2007). Entities are permitted to use titles for these statements other than those set out above. A fund would be expected to 

use the same titles in its interim financial report as are used in its annual financial statements. 
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2.3 Periods required to be presented 

AASB 134.20 requires interim reports to include interim financial statements (whether condensed or complete – see chapter 3 

of this guide) for the periods listed in the following table. 

Statement Current Comparative 

Statement of financial position End of current interim period End of immediately preceding financial year 

Statement of comprehensive income 
(and, where applicable, separate income 
statement) 

Current interim period and cumulatively for 
the year-to-date 

Comparable interim period and  
year-to-date of immediately preceding financial 
year 

Statement of changes in equity Cumulatively for the current financial year-
to-date 

Comparable year-to-date of immediately 
preceding financial year 

Statement of cash flows Cumulatively for the current financial year-
to-date 

Comparable year-to-date of immediately 
preceding financial year 

 

Based on the requirements of AASB 134.20, example 2.3.1 illustrates the statements required to be presented in the interim 

financial report of a fund that reports half yearly, with a 31 December 20X9 year end. 

Example  

Statements required for entities that report half yearly 

Statement Current Comparative 

• Statement of financial position  

• Statement of comprehensive income – 6 months ended 

• Statement of changes in equity – 6 months ended 

• Statement of cash flows – 6 months ended 

31 December 2010 

31 December 2010 

31 December 2010 

31 December 2010 

30 June 2010 

31 December 2009 

31 December 2009 

31 December 2009 

2.3.1 Change of financial year end 

Example 

Comparative interim period when financial year end changes 

Fund A’s financial year ends on 30 September. It reports half yearly. It prepared annual financial statements for the year ended 30 September 
2009. Subsequently, it published a half yearly report for the six months ended 31 March 2010. 

Fund A changes its financial year end to 30 June and prepares ‘annual’ financial statements for the nine months ended 30 June 2010. Its half 
yearly interim report for 2011 will be for the six months ended 31 December 2010. What comparative period should be used for the December 
2010 interim financial report? 

AASB 134 does not consider the circumstances where there is a change in the financial year end. AASB 134.20 requires the presentation of 
comparative information for the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, and statement of cash flows, for 
“comparable interim periods”. In many circumstances, using the period from 1 July 2009 to 31 December 2009 as the comparative period may 
be preferable to using the amounts previously reported for the period from 1 October 2009 to 31 March 2010, because this would enable users 
to compare trends over time, particularly in a seasonal business. However, based on the particular facts and circumstances, other periods may 
be appropriate (e.g. where local regulations prescribe the comparative period(s) to be presented following a change in financial year end). 

2.3.2 Comparative financial statements when interim financial reports are produced for the first time 

When a fund is preparing its first interim financial report under AASB 134, unless the report relates to the first period of operation, it should 
generally include comparatives as discussed in the previous sections. In the exceptional circumstances where the fund does not have available 
in its accounting records the financial information needed to prepare the comparative interim financial statements, the fund has no choice but to 
omit prior period comparative financial statements. 

In the circumstances described, however, the omission of the comparative financial statements represents a non-compliance with AASB 134. 

2.4 Consolidated financial statements 

If the fund’s most recent annual financial statements were consolidated statements, then the interim financial report should also 

be prepared on a consolidated basis. If the fund’s annual financial statements included the parent’s separate financial 

statements in addition to consolidated financial statements, AASB 134 neither requires nor prohibits the inclusion of the parent’s 

separate statements in the fund’s interim report. [AASB 134.14] 

Where the fund has disposed of all of its subsidiaries during the interim period, such that it has no subsidiaries at the end of the interim 
reporting period, it should prepare its interim financial report on a consolidated basis because it had subsidiaries at some point during the 
interim period. The statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows will include the impact of 
the subsidiaries up to the date(s) of disposal and the effects of the disposal. 
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2.5 Materiality 

Materiality is defined in AASB 101(2007).7 as follows. 

“Omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could, individually or collectively, influence the economic decisions of 

users taken on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality depends on the size and nature of the omission or 

misstatement, judged in the surrounding circumstances. The size or nature of the item, or a combination of both, could be the 

determining factor.” 

AASB 134.23 requires that, in deciding how to recognise, measure, classify, or disclose an item for interim financial reporting 

purposes, materiality should be assessed in relation to the interim period financial data. In making assessments of materiality, it 

should be recognised that interim measurements may rely on estimates to a greater extent than measurements of annual 

financial data. 

While materiality judgments are always subjective, the overriding concern is to ensure that an interim financial report includes 

all of the information that is relevant to understanding the financial position and performance of the fund during the interim 

period. Therefore, it is generally inappropriate to base quantitative estimates of materiality on projected annual figures.  

In accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 1031 Materiality, the standards specified in other Australian Accounting 

Standards apply to the financial reports when information resulting from their application is material. Information is material if its 

omission, misstatement or non-disclosure has the potential, individually or collectively, to: 

• Influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report; or  

• Affect the discharge of accountability by the management or governing body of the fund. [AASB 1031.9] 

In determining whether the amount of an item is material, the item should be compared with the more appropriate of the 

following base amounts: 

• In the case of items relating to the balance sheet – equity or the appropriate asset or liability class total; 

• In the case of items relating to the income statement – profit or loss and the appropriate income or expense amount for the 

current reporting period, or average profit or loss and the average of the appropriate income or expense amounts for a 

number of reporting periods; and 

• In the case of items relating to the cash flow statement – net cash provided by or used in the operating, investing, financing or 

other activities as appropriate for the current reporting period or average net cash provided by or used in the operating, 

investing, financing or other activities as appropriate for a number of reporting periods. [AASB 1031.13] 

AASB 1031 specifies the following quantitative thresholds which may be used as a guide in considering the materiality of an 

item in the absence of evidence, or convincing argument, to the contrary: 

• an amount equal to or greater than 10% of the appropriate base amount is presumed to be material; and 

• an amount equal to or less than 5% of the appropriate base amount is presumed not to be material. [AASB 1031.15] 

2.6 Rounding off of amounts  

Where total assets of the fund, registered fund, disclosing fund or financial services licensee exceed: 

$10 million Rounding off to the nearest thousand dollars is permitted. Each page must clearly indicate where 
this has been done (refer ASIC-CO 98/0100 dated 10 July 1998). 

$1,000 million Rounding off to the nearest hundred thousand dollars is permitted. Each page must clearly 
indicate where this has been done (refer ASIC-CO 98/0100 dated 10 July 1998). These amounts 
should be presented in the form of a whole number of millions of dollars and one place of 
decimals representing hundreds of thousands of dollars, with a clear indication that the amounts 
are presented in millions of dollars. 

$10,000 million Rounding off to the nearest million dollars is permitted. Each page must clearly indicate where this 
has been done (refer ASIC-CO 98/0100 dated 10 July 1998). 

 

However, rounding is not allowed where rounding could adversely affect decisions about the allocation of scarce resources 

made by users of the financial report or the discharge of accountability by management or the directors. 
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The relevant financial report or report must state that the Fund is of a kind referred to in the Class Order and that amounts in the 

directors’ report and the financial report have been rounded in accordance with the Class Order. 

Amounts rounded down to zero may be indicated by ‘nil’ or the equivalent thereof. In addition, an item that is rounded down to 

nil in the financial report for the current and comparative accounting periods may be omitted completely. 

In respect of financial services licensees, a reference to ‘directors’ in the class order is taken to include a reference to, where 

the relevant fund is a financial services licensee that is a partnership, the partners of the fund, or where the relevant fund is a 

financial services licensee that is a natural person, the person.  

Special rules for ‘prescribed items’ 

When rounding amounts pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/0100 it is important to remember that: 

• where a fund rounds amounts to the nearest $100,000 or $1,000,000, the following ‘prescribed items’ must be rounded only 

to the nearest $1,000; and 

• where a Fund rounds to the nearest $1,000, the following ‘prescribed items’ must be presented in whole dollars (i.e. the 

following ‘prescribed items’ cannot be rounded). 

The ‘prescribed items’ include: 

• details, values and aggregates required to be disclosed in the directors’ report under s.300(1)(d) and (g), s.300(8), s.300(9), 

s.300(11), s.300(11B), s.300(11C), s.300(12), s.300(13)(a), s.300A(1)(c) and s.300A(1)(e) of the Corporations Act 20011;  

• amounts disclosed pursuant to AASB 2 Share-based Payment paragraphs 44, 46 and 51;  

• remuneration of auditors disclosed pursuant to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (2005) paragraphs Aus126.1 

and 126.2; 

• compensation to key management personnel and other information disclosed pursuant to AASB 124 Related Party 

Disclosures paragraphs 16, Aus 25.4, Aus25.6, Aus25.7.1 to Aus25.9.2; and 

• transactions between related parties disclosed pursuant to AASB 124.17 and 18.  

Other prescribed items include similar amounts disclosed under superseded Australian Accounting Standards and Corporations 

Act 2001 requirements.  

1
 Information required by Regulation 2M.3.03 is considered to be a ‘prescribed item’ as it is caught by the references to s.300A. 

Rounding by lower amounts 

Where considered appropriate, and provided certain conditions are satisfied, amounts may be rounded off to a lesser extent 

than that detailed above. For example, a Fund with total assets exceeding $10,000 million may wish to round to the nearest 

$1,000 or $100,000 even though it is permitted to round to the nearest $1 million. 
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3. Condensed or complete interim financial statements 

Where the minimum required information for interim financial statements prescribed by AASB 134.8 (as listed in section 2.2 

above) is presented, the resultant financial statements are described as ‘condensed’. However, entities also have the option of 

including a complete set of financial statements in their interim financial reports. Where a fund takes this alternative, the form 

and content of the financial statements must conform to the requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements 

(2007) for a complete set of financial statements, in addition to complying with the requirements of AASB 134. [AASB 134.7 & 9] 

Therefore, the measurement and disclosure requirements of all relevant Standards apply. These include all measurement and 

disclosure requirements of AASB 134 and, in particular, the selected explanatory note disclosures listed in AASB 134.16 (see 

chapter 4 of this guide). 

3.1 Items to appear on the face of condensed financial statements 

AASB 134 requires, for each component (statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive income, statement of 

changes in equity, and statement of cash flows), that each of the headings and subtotals that were included in the fund’s most 

recent annual financial statements should be disclosed. Additional line items are required if their omission would make the 

condensed interim financial statements misleading. [AASB 134.10] 

3.2 Use of the term ‘condensed’ 

 

The requirements of AASB 101(2007) (other than the general principles referred to in section 2.1 above) are not generally 
applicable to condensed interim financial statements. 

In prescribing the minimum content, AASB 134 uses the phrase “each of the headings and subtotals”, thereby seeming to 
imply that not all of the line items that were presented in the most recent annual financial statements are necessarily required. 
Such an interpretation would do a disservice, however, to a user of the financial statements who is trying to assess trends in 
the interim period in relation to financial years. Therefore, the phrase should be interpreted, in nearly all cases, to mean the 
line items that were included in the fund’s most recent annual financial statements. The line items in most published financial 
statements are already highly aggregated and it would be difficult to think of a line item in the annual statement of 
comprehensive income, in particular, that would not also be appropriate in an interim statement of comprehensive income.  

For the statement of financial position, a too literal interpretation of “each of the headings and subtotals” might lead to an 
interim statement of financial position that presented lines only for total current assets, total non-current assets, total current 
liabilities, total non-current liabilities and total equity, which would generally be insufficient for trend analysis. 

For the statement of changes in equity, all material movements in equity occurring in the interim period should be disclosed 
separately. 

In the case of the statement of cash flows, some aggregation of the lines from the annual statement may be appropriate, but 
subtotals for ‘operating’, ‘investing’ and ‘financing’ only are unlikely to be sufficient. 

If a particular category of asset, liability, equity, income, expense or cash flows was so material as to require separate 
disclosure in the financial statements in the most recent annual financial statements, such separate disclosure will generally 
be appropriate in the interim financial report. Further aggregation would only be anticipated where the line items in the annual 
statements are unusually detailed.  

Under AASB 134.10, additional line items should be included if their omission would make the condensed interim financial 
statements misleading. Therefore, a new category of asset, liability, income, expense, equity or cash flow arising for the first 
time in the interim period may require presentation as an additional line item in the condensed financial statements. 

A category of asset, liability, income, expense, equity or cash flow may be significant in the context of the interim financial 
statements even though it is not significant enough to warrant separate presentation in the annual financial statements. In 
such cases, separate presentation in the condensed interim financial statements may be required. 

The requirements discussed in the previous section will result in the presentation of at least some statements that include all 
of the line items, headings and subtotals that were presented in the most recent annual financial statements. The question 
then arises as to whether such statements should, in practice, be described as ‘condensed’. 

Given that the notes supplementing the interim financial statements are limited, the presentation package taken together is 
condensed from what would be reported in a complete set of financial statements under AASB 101(2007) and other Australian 
Accounting Standards. In such circumstances, the information presented in the statement of financial position, statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows is condensed – even if the appearance of 
the statements has not changed. These interim statements should therefore be described as ‘condensed’, because otherwise 
a user might infer that they constitute a complete set of financial statements under AASB 101, which they do not. A complete 
set of financial statements must include a full note presentation consistent with the annual presentation. 
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4. Selected explanatory notes  

AASB 134 specifies that an interim financial report should contain selected explanatory notes. 

4.1 Required disclosures 

The disclosure requirements of AASB 134 are based on the assumption that anyone reading the interim financial report will 

have access to the most recent annual financial statements. Therefore, not all of the supplementary notes in the annual 

financial statements are required for interim reporting purposes, because this would result in repetition, or the reporting of 

relatively insignificant changes. The explanatory notes included with the interim financial information are intended to provide an 

explanation of events and transactions that are significant to an understanding of the changes in financial position and 

performance of the fund since the end of the last annual reporting period. [AASB 134.15] 

The list below sets out the minimum explanatory notes required by AASB 134. The information is generally presented on a 

financial year-to-date basis. However, the fund is also required to disclose any events or transactions that are material to an 

understanding of the current interim period. [AASB 134.16] 

The following information should be disclosed in the notes to the interim financial statements, if material to an understanding of 

the interim period: [AASB 134.16] 

• a statement that the same accounting policies and methods of computation are followed in the interim financial statements as 

were followed in the most recent annual financial statements or, if those policies or methods have been changed, a 

description of the nature and effect of the change (see chapter 5 of this guide); 

• explanatory comments about the seasonality or cyclicality of interim operations; 

• the nature and amount of items affecting assets, liabilities, equity, net income or cash flows, that are unusual because of their 

size, nature or incidence; 

• the nature and amount of changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior interim periods of the current financial year, or 

changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior financial years, if those changes have a material effect in the current 

interim period; 

• issuances, repurchases and repayments of debt and equity securities; 

• distributions paid (aggregate or per unit) 

• the following segment information (see 4.3 below): 

– revenues from external customers, if included in the measure of segment profit or loss reviewed by the chief operating 

decision maker or otherwise regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker; 

– intersegment revenues, if included in the measure of segment profit or loss reviewed by the chief operating decision maker 

or otherwise regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker; 

– a measure of segment profit or loss; 

– total assets for which there has been a material change from the amount disclosed in the last annual financial statements; 

– a description of differences from the last annual financial statements in the basis of segmentation or in the basis of 

measurement of segment profit or loss; and 

– a reconciliation of the total of the reportable segments’ measures of profit or loss to the fund’s profit or loss. Material 

reconciling items should be separately identified and described in that reconciliation; 

• material events subsequent to the end of the interim period that have not been reflected in the interim financial statements; 

• the effect of changes in the composition of the fund during the interim period, including business combinations (see 4.4 

below), obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries and long-term investments, restructurings and discontinued operations; and 

• changes in contingent liabilities or contingent assets since the end of the last annual reporting period. 

The Standard requires the fund to provide explanatory comments about the seasonality or cyclicality of interim operations 
under AASB 134.16(b). Discussion of changes in the business environment (such as changes in demand, market shares, 
prices and costs) and discussion of prospects for the full current financial year of which the interim period is a part will normally 
be presented as part of a management discussion and analysis or financial review, outside of the notes to the interim financial 
statements. 
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AASB 134.17 provides the following examples of the kinds of disclosures that are required: 

• recognition of a loss arising from the impairment of property, plant, and equipment, intangible assets, or other assets, and the 

reversal of any such impairment loss; 

• the reversal of any provisions for the costs of restructuring; 

• acquisitions and disposals of items of property, plant, and equipment; 

• commitments for the purchase of property, plant, and equipment; 

• litigation settlements; 

• corrections of prior period errors; and 

• any loan default or any breach of a loan agreement that has not been remedied on or before the end of the reporting period. 

 

4.2 Detail required in explanatory notes 

AASB 134 does not specify the level of detail for the disclosures required by AASB 134.16 and AASB 134.17. The guiding 
principle is that the interim disclosures should be those that are useful in understanding the changes in financial position and 
performance of the fund since the end of the last annual reporting period. AASB 134.18 points out that the detailed disclosures 
required by other Australian Accounting Standards are not required in an interim financial report that includes condensed 
financial statements and selected explanatory notes. Therefore, in general, the level of detail in interim note disclosures will be 
less than the level of detail in annual note disclosures. The following example illustrates this point. 

• AASB 136 Impairment of Assets paragraph 126 requires disclosure of impairment losses and reversals for each class of 
assets. The disclosure of impairment losses and reversals required by AASB 134.17(b) will generally be made at the fund 
level in condensed interim financial statements, rather than by class of assets, except where a particular impairment or 
reversal is deemed significant to an understanding of the changes in financial position and performance of the fund since the 
end of the last annual reporting period. 

• AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures paragraph 16 requires disclosure of key management personnel compensation by 
category. Such detailed disclosures of the remuneration of key management personnel are not generally required in interim 
financial reports unless there has been a significant change since the end of the last annual reporting period and disclosure 
of that change is necessary for an understanding of the interim period. For example, a bonus granted to members of key 
management personnel during the interim period are likely to be significant to an understanding of the interim period and, 
therefore, should be disclosed. 

An entity shall disclose any events or transactions that are material to an understanding of the current half year reporting 
period. The current requirements is for disclosure of information that is: 

• material to the overall interim financial statements; or 

• unusual or irregular; or 

• a change from the previous reporting period (of the current or previous financial year) that has a significant effect on the 
current reporting period; or 

• relevant to an understanding of estimates used in the interim financial statements. 

IASB has amended IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting as part of Improvements to IFRSs 2010 project to emphasise the 
existing disclosure principles in IAS 34 that the disclosure about significant events and transactions in interim periods should 
update the relevant information presented in the most recent annual financial report. It also clarifies how to apply these 
principles in respect of financial instruments and their fair values. The IASB noted that in accordance with IAS 34, an interim 
financial report provides an update on the latest complete set of annual financial statements. When an event or transaction is 
significant to an understanding of the changes in an entity’s financial position or performance since the last annual financial 
period, in accordance with IAS 34 its interim financial report should provide an explanation of, and update to, the information 
included in the financial statements for the last annual financial period. The IASB concluded that IAS 34 provides sufficient 
guidance to enable entities to decide whether updates to fair value disclosures are required in interim financial reports but 
decided to amend IAS 34 to place greater emphasis on those principles and the inclusion of additional examples relating to 
more recent disclosure requirements, i.e., fair value measurements, to improve interim financial reporting. The following 
additional disclosures are provided in the amended IAS 34: 

• changes in the business or economic circumstances that affect the fair value of the entity’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities, whether those assets or liabilities are recognised at fair value or amortised cost 

• transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy used in measuring the fair value of financial instruments 

• changes in the classification of financial assets as a result of a change in the purpose or use of those assets 

The amended standard is effective from annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Earlier application is permitted. 
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4.3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 8 (applicable to listed funds only). 

Disclosure of segment information is required in a fund’s interim financial report only if AASB 8 Operating Segments requires 

that fund to disclose segment information in its annual financial statements. 

4.4 Business combinations occurring during (and since) the interim period 

Where business combinations have occurred during the interim period, AASB 134.16(i) requires the fund to disclose all of the 

details prescribed for annual financial statements by AASB 3 Business Combinations. Similar information shall be disclosed in 

respect of business combinations occurring after the reporting date but before the date of authorisation of the interim financial 

report.  

4.5 Comparative information required for explanatory note disclosures 

4.6 Inclusion of interim period disclosures in next annual financial statements 

The disclosure requirements set out in AASB 134.16(g) (see section 4.1) are based on the premise that the full segment 
disclosures in the most recent annual report are available and that insignificant updates to that information are not generally 
required in interim periods. This premise will not be appropriate in the first year of adoption of AASB 8, unless the segments 
under AASB 8 are not materially different to those previously presented under AASB 114. Therefore, in the first interim 
financial report affected by AASB 8, it would seem appropriate to disclose: 

• a measure of total assets for each reportable segment (rather than simply explaining material changes as is required on an 
ongoing basis); and 

• a comprehensive description of the basis of segmentation of information and the basis of measurement of segment profit or 
loss (rather than simply explaining any changes in those bases as is required on an ongoing basis). 

AASB 134 (as amended) does not explicitly require that comparative information be provided for explanatory note disclosures 
in condensed interim financial statements. However, the notes support the financial statements for which comparative 
information is required. Therefore, although AASB 134.16 contains no express reference to the requirement for comparative 
information, we consider that AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (2007).38 should be applied, and that 
comparative information should be provided for all numerical information, and for narrative and descriptive information to the 
extent that it is relevant to an understanding of the current interim period’s financial statements. 

For the purposes of interim financial statements, the ‘previous period’ referred to in AASB 101(2007).38 should be taken to 
mean the equivalent interim period. Therefore, for example, where disclosures are made under AASB 134.16 in respect of 
business combinations or share issues on a financial year-to-date basis, then comparative information for the equivalent year 
to date should be reported. 

When a fund presents a complete set of financial statements for interim reporting purposes, then all of the requirements of 
AASB 101(2007) apply and, therefore, comparative information is required for the explanatory note disclosures under AASB 
134.16. 

If an item of information is deemed significant and, therefore, is disclosed in a fund’s interim financial report, that item of 
information will not necessarily be disclosed in the fund’s next annual financial report that includes the interim period in which 
the disclosure was made. Under AASB 134, interim period disclosures are determined based on materiality levels assessed 
by reference to the interim period financial data (see section 2.5). The Standard recognises that the notes to interim financial 
statements are intended to explain events and transactions that are significant to an understanding of the changes in financial 
position and performance of the fund since the end of the last annual reporting period. A disclosure that is useful for that 
purpose may not be useful in the annual financial statements. 

To illustrate, AASB 134.16(c) requires disclosure of the nature and amount of any item that affects assets, liabilities, equity, 
net income or cash flows if it is unusual because of its nature, size or incidence. Such an item may be unusual in size in the 
context of a single quarter or half year period, for example, but not so with respect to the full financial year. 

As discussed at section 4.9, AASB 134.26 requires disclosure in the notes to the annual financial statements where an 
estimate of an amount reported in an earlier interim period is changed significantly during the final interim period of the 
financial year but a separate financial report is not produced for that final interim period. 
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4.7 Inclusion of interim period disclosures in subsequent interim periods of the same financial year 

4.8 Disclosure of compliance with Australian Accounting Standards  

AASB 134.19 requires that, where an interim financial report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of that 

Standard, that fact should be disclosed. An interim financial report should not be described as complying with Australian 

Accounting Standards unless it complies with all of the requirements of Australian Accounting Standards. The latter statement 

will be appropriate only where interim financial statements are complete rather than condensed. 

 

AASB 134 clarifies that, where other Standards call for disclosures in financial statements, in that context they mean a complete 

set of financial statements of the type normally included in an annual financial report. Such disclosures are not required if the 

interim financial report includes only condensed financial statements and selected explanatory notes. [AASB 134.18] 

4.9 Disclosure in annual financial statements 

It is quite common that entities do not prepare a separate report for the final interim period in a financial year. This will be 

determined on the basis of the rules of local regulators. For example, a fund with a reporting period to 30 June, which reports 

half yearly, may not be required to produce a separate interim report covering the period from January to June. 

In such circumstances, AASB 134 requires disclosure in the notes to the annual financial statements where an estimate of an 

amount reported in an earlier interim period is changed significantly during the final interim period. The nature and amount of 

that change in estimate are required to be disclosed. [AASB 134.26] This requirement is intended to provide the user of the 

financial statements with details of changes in estimates in the final interim period consistent with those generally required by 

AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. The Standard does state, however, that this 

disclosure requirement is intended to be narrow in scope, relating only to the change in estimate, and it is not intended to 

introduce a general requirement to include additional interim period financial information in the fund’s annual financial 

statements. [AASB 134.27] 

 

If an item of information is deemed significant and, therefore, is disclosed in a fund’s interim financial report for the first 
quarter, that item of information will not necessarily be disclosed in the interim financial reports for the subsequent quarters of 
the same financial year. Under AASB 134, materiality is assessed by reference to each interim period’s financial data (see 
section 2.5). Therefore, an item that is considered material in the context of one interim period may not be material for 
subsequent interim periods of the same financial year. AASB 134.16 indicates that note disclosures are normally on a year-to-
date basis. 

For example, the explanatory notes in the interim financial report at 31 December for a 30 June year-end fund that reports 
quarterly will cover the period 1 January to 30 June. An item of information that was deemed significant in the first quarter 
report and, therefore, was disclosed in the notes to the interim financial report for the three months ending 31 August, may not 
be significant on a 31 December six-month year-to-date basis. If that is the case, disclosure in the six-month interim financial 
report is not required. 

By contrast, an item might be significant to understanding the performance of the fund for the current interim period (in the 
example above, the three months ended 31 December) but not for the year-to-date (six months ended 31 December). AASB 
134.16 specifically requires disclosure of such items – in addition to reporting information on a year-to-date basis, the fund is 
required to disclose any events or transactions that are material to an understanding of the current interim period. 

As condensed interim financial reports do not include all of the disclosures required by AASB 101(2007) and other Standards, 
they do not meet this requirement. They are, therefore, more appropriately described as having been prepared ‘in accordance 
with AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting rather than ‘in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards’. 

Therefore, when presenting condensed interim financial information, the fund needs to consider compliance with Standards at 
two levels: 

• compliance with all of the measurement and presentation rules contained in extant Standards and Interpretations (as stated 
in the previous paragraph, compliance with the disclosure requirements of Standards other than AASB 134 is not required); 
and 

• compliance with the disclosure requirements and the measurement principles for interim reporting purposes specified by 
AASB 134. 

AASB 134.27 makes clear that, when such a change in estimate occurs and is required to be disclosed in the annual financial 
statements, the disclosure represents additional interim period financial information. Consequently, although the disclosure is 
made in the annual financial statements, materiality will generally be determined by reference to interim period financial data. 
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5. Accounting policies for interim reporting 

5.1 Same accounting policies as annual financial statements 

The accounting policies applied in the interim financial statements should be consistent with those applied in the most recent 

annual financial statements, except for accounting policy changes made after the date of the most recent annual financial 

statements that are to be reflected in the next annual financial statements. [AASB 134.28] 

Entities are required to disclose in their interim financial reports that this requirement has been met. [AASB 134.16(a)] 

5.2 Changes in accounting policies 

Preparers of interim financial reports in compliance with AASB 134 are required to consider any changes in accounting policies 

that will be applied for the next annual financial statements, and to implement the changes for interim reporting purposes. Such 

changes will generally encompass: 

• changes required by an Australian Accounting Standard or Interpretation that will be effective for the annual financial 

statements; and 

• changes that are proposed to be adopted for the annual financial statements, in accordance with the requirements of AASB 

108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, on the basis that they will result in the financial 

statements providing reliable and more relevant information. 

If there has been any change in accounting policy since the most recent annual financial statements, the interim financial report 

is required to include a description of the nature and effect of the change. [AASB 134.16(a)] 

5.3 Restatement of previously reported interim periods 

A change in accounting policy, other than one for which the transitional provisions are specified by a new Australian Accounting 

Standard, should be reflected by:  

[AASB 134.43] 

• restating the financial statements of prior interim periods of the current annual reporting period and the comparable interim 

periods of any prior annual reporting periods that will be restated in annual financial statements in accordance with AASB 

108; or 

• when it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effect at the beginning of the annual reporting period of applying a new 

accounting policy to all prior periods, adjusting the financial statements of prior interim periods of the current annual reporting 

period, and comparable interim periods of prior annual reporting periods, to apply the new accounting policy prospectively 

from the earliest date practicable. 

AASB 108 states that retrospective application of a new accounting policy is impracticable when a fund cannot apply it after 

making every reasonable effort to do so. 

AASB 134.44 states that an objective of these principles is to ensure that a single accounting policy is applied to a particular 

class of transactions throughout an entire annual reporting period. That is not to say that voluntary changes in accounting policy 

part-way through the year are prohibited. Such changes are permitted, provided that the conditions of AASB 108 are met. What 

AASB 134.44 requires is that, where a change in accounting policy is adopted at some point during the year, the amounts 

reported for earlier interim periods should be restated to reflect the new policy. 

If a new Standard that is effective in the current financial year requires disclosures in annual financial statements, those 
disclosures would not ordinarily be required in a condensed interim financial report, unless specifically required by AASB 134 
or by the new Standard. For example, AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures would not generally affect a fund’s interim 
financial report because disclosures in accordance with AASB 7 are not required unless their omission would make the 
condensed interim financial statements misleading (however, refer also to the discussion in section 4.2, and in ‘Key 
commercial considerations for the current reporting cycle’ in Section A of this publication). In contrast, Australian amending 
standard AASB 2007-3 issued together with AASB 8 Operating Segments resulted in consequential amendments to AASB 
134, which require more detailed segment information in the interim financial report (see section 4.3 above). 

If a new Standard or Interpretation has been published during the first interim period but it is not effective until after the end of 
the annual reporting period, a fund may decide in the second interim period to adopt this Standard or Interpretation early for its 
annual financial statements. The fact that the new Standard or Interpretation was not early adopted in its first interim financial 
statements does not generally preclude the fund from adopting a new policy in the second interim period or at the end of the 
annual reporting period. The requirements for restating previously reported interim periods are discussed at section 5.3. 
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6. General principles for recognition and measurement 

As discussed in chapter 5 of this guide, in preparing their interim financial reports, entities are required to apply the same 

accounting policies as will be applicable for their next annual financial statements. The principles for recognising assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses for interim periods are the same as in annual financial statements. 

It is not intended, however, that each interim period should be seen to stand alone as an independent period. The Standard 

states that the frequency of a fund’s reporting (annual, half yearly or quarterly) should not affect the measurement of its annual 

results. To achieve that objective, measurements for interim reporting purposes are made on a year-to-date basis. [AASB 

134.28] 

6.1 Use of estimates 

AASB 134.41 requires that measurement procedures used in interim financial reports produce information that is reliable, with 

all material relevant financial information being appropriately disclosed. It nevertheless acknowledges that, while reasonable 

estimates are often used for both annual and interim financial reports, interim reports generally will require a greater use of 

estimation methods than annual financial reports. 

Appendix C to the Standard provides a number of examples of the use of estimates in interim financial reports, some of which 

are reproduced below. 

Examples of the use of estimates for interim reporting purposes [Appendix C to AASB 134] 

Provisions: Determination of the appropriate amount of a provision (such as a provision for warranties, environmental costs, 
and site restoration costs) may be complex and often costly and time-consuming. Entities sometimes engage outside experts to 
assist in the annual calculations. Making similar estimates at interim dates often entails updating of the prior annual provision 
rather than the engaging of outside experts to do a new calculation. 

Contingencies: The measurement of contingencies may involve the opinions of legal experts or other advisers. Formal reports 
from independent experts are sometimes obtained with respect to contingencies. Such opinions about litigation, claims, 
assessments, and other contingencies and uncertainties may or may not also be needed at interim dates. 

Revaluations and fair value accounting: AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment allows a fund to choose as its accounting 
policy the revaluation model whereby items of property, plant and equipment are revalued to fair value. Similarly, AASB 140 
Investment Property requires a fund to determine the fair value of investment property. For those measurements, a fund may 
rely on professionally-qualified valuers at the end of annual reporting periods, though not at the end of interim reporting periods. 

6.2 Changes in estimates 

As an illustration of the impact of changes in estimates, AASB 134 considers the rules for recognising and measuring losses 

from inventory write-downs, restructurings or impairments. The principles to be followed in an interim period are the same as 

those for annual periods. If such items are recognised and measured in, say, the first quarter of a financial year and the 

estimate changes in the second quarter of the year, the original estimate is adjusted in the second interim period, either by 

recognition of an additional amount or by reversal of the previously-recognised amount. [AASB 134.30(a)] 

If changes in estimates arise, the results of previous interim periods of the current year are not retrospectively adjusted. 

However, the nature and amount of any significant changes in estimates must be disclosed either:  

[AASB 134.16(d), 26 & 35] 

• in the annual report, if there has been no subsequent interim period financial report that disclosed the change in estimate 

(see section 4.8 above); or 

• in the following interim period financial report of the same year. 

Interpretation 10 gives guidance on certain circumstances in which an impairment loss recognised in an interim period should 

not be subsequently reversed (see section 8.1). 

There is a degree of inconsistency in AASB 134. The requirement set out at section 5.1 above (that the same accounting 
policies should be applied in the interim financial statements as are applied in annual financial statements) represents a 
‘discrete period’ approach to interim reporting. On the other hand, AASB 134.28’s requirement that measurements for interim 
reporting purposes should be made on a year-to-date basis so that the frequency of the fund’s reporting does not affect the 
measurement of its annual results represents an ‘integral period’ approach. 

This inconsistency has led to a number of areas of potential conflict between the requirements of AASB 134 and those of other 
Standards applied at the end of interim reporting periods. Interpretation 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment deals 
with one area of conflict regarding reversals of certain impairment losses (see section 8.1 below). 
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7. Applying the recognition and measurement principles 

Appendix B to AASB 134 contains a number of detailed examples to illustrate the application of the recognition and 

measurement principles discussed in the previous sections. These are reproduced below, together with a number of additional 

examples developed to illustrate important principles. 

7.1 Foreign currency translation gains and losses 

Foreign currency translation gains and losses are measured for interim financial reporting using the same principles as at 

financial year end. [AASB 134.B29] 

AASB 121 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates specifies how to translate the financial statements for foreign 

operations into the presentation currency, including guidelines for using average or closing foreign exchange rates and 

guidelines for including the resulting adjustments in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income. Consistent with AASB 121, 

the actual average and closing rates for the interim period are used. Entities do not anticipate changes in foreign exchange 

rates in the remainder of the current financial year when translating foreign operations at an interim date. [AASB 134.B30] 

If AASB 121 requires that translation adjustments are recognised as income or as expenses in the period in which they arise, 

that principle is applied during each interim period. Entities do not defer some foreign currency translation adjustments at an 

interim date if the adjustment is expected to reverse before the end of the financial year. [AASB 134.B31] 
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8. Impairment of assets 

AASB 136 Impairment of Assets requires that an impairment loss be recognised if the recoverable amount of an asset has 

declined below its carrying amount. AASB 134 requires that a fund apply the same impairment testing, recognition and reversal 

criteria at an interim date as it would at the end of its financial year. That does not mean, however, that a fund must necessarily 

make a detailed impairment calculation at the end of each interim period. Rather, a fund will review for indications of significant 

impairment since the end of the most recent financial year to determine whether such a calculation is needed. [AASB 

134.B35 & B36] 

8.1 Interpretation 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment 

As discussed at section 5.1 above, AASB 134.28 requires a fund to apply the same accounting policies in its interim financial 

statements as are applied in its annual financial statements. AASB 134.28 also states that the frequency of a fund's reporting 

(annual, half yearly, or quarterly) should not affect the measurement of its annual results. To achieve that objective, 

measurements for interim reporting purposes should be made on a year-to-date basis. 

Interpretation 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment addresses the interaction between the requirements in AASB 

134.28 and those dealing with the recognition of impairment losses relating to goodwill under AASB 136 and relating to certain 

financial assets under AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and the effect of that interaction on 

subsequent interim and annual financial statements:  

• AASB 136.124 states that “an impairment loss recognised for goodwill shall not be reversed in a subsequent period”; 

• AASB 139.69 states that “impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for an investment in an equity instrument classified as 

available-for-sale shall not be reversed through profit or loss”; and  

• AASB 139.66 requires that impairment losses for financial assets carried at cost (such as an impairment loss on an unquoted 

equity instrument that is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured) should not be reversed. 

The issue addressed by Interpretation 10 is whether a fund should reverse impairment losses recognised in an interim period 

relating to goodwill, or relating to investments in equity instruments or in financial assets carried at cost, if a loss would not have 

been recognised, or a smaller loss would have been recognised, had an impairment assessment been made only at the end of 

the subsequent reporting period. 

The issue is best illustrated by considering the example of Fund A and Fund B, which each hold the same equity investment 

with the same acquisition cost. Fund A prepares quarterly interim financial statements while Fund B prepares half yearly 

financial statements. Both entities have the same financial year-end date. If there was a significant decline in the fair value of 

the equity instrument below its cost in the first quarter, Fund A would recognise an impairment loss in its first quarter’s interim 

financial statements. However, if the fair value of the equity instrument subsequently recovered, so that by the half year date 

there had not been a significant decline in fair value below cost, Fund B would not recognise an impairment loss in its half 

yearly financial statements if it tested for impairment only at the end of the half year reporting period. Therefore, unless Fund A 

reversed the impairment loss that had been recognised in an earlier interim period, the frequency of reporting would affect the 

measurement of its annual results when compared with Fund B’s approach.  

The consensus in the Interpretation is that a fund should not reverse an impairment loss recognised in a previous interim period 

in respect of goodwill or an investment in an equity instrument or a financial asset carried at cost. Essentially, Interpretation 10 

concludes that the prohibitions on reversals of recognised impairment losses relating to goodwill under AASB 136 and relating 

to investments in equity instruments and financial assets carried at cost under AASB 139 should take precedence over the 

more general statement in AASB 134 regarding the frequency of a fund’s reporting not affecting the measurement of its annual 

results. 

Interpretation 10 emphasises that a fund should not extend the consensus of this Interpretation by analogy to other areas of 

potential conflict between AASB 134 and other Australian Accounting Standards. 
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About the model half year report 

Purpose 

This Model managed investment scheme half year financial report has been designed by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu to assist 

clients, partners and staff with the preparation of interim financial reports by a fund in accordance with Australian equivalents to 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“A-IFRS”). 

This model half year General Purpose Financial Report has been prepared accordance with the latest A-IFRS requirements for 

a unitised Australian Investment Fund. It does not purport to demonstrate compliance with all regulations and Accounting 

Standards applicable to all funds. Rather it attempts to show an appropriate level of disclosure for the majority of funds. Our 

hope is that you find these illustrative accounts useful in preparing your draft financial statements for 31 December 2010. As 

has always been the case, there will be areas where judgment is required to arrive at certain valuations and disclosures. 

Accounting standards are constantly being updated and we encourage the preparers of financial statements to keep abreast of 

current developments. Our dedicated IFRS website, www.iasplus.com, has links to several useful publications as well as 

updates on the global IFRS agenda. 

This model financial report is not designed to meet all the needs of specialised funds. Rather, it is intended to meet the needs of 

the vast majority of funds in complying with the interim reporting requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting 

Standards and Interpretations. 

This model financial report does not, and cannot be expected to cover all situations that may be encountered in practice. 

Therefore, knowledge of the disclosure provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations are 

pre-requisites for the preparation of financial reports. Specifically, the model half year financial report has been prepared based 

on certain assumptions, including the following: 

• The Fund is not listed on any exchange; 

• The units of the Fund are classified as a financial liability, not equity; 

• The Fund has control of one other fund, and there were no changes in control during the period; 

• The Fund presents a single statement of comprehensive income; 

• The Scheme does not include an additional statement of financial position (i.e. ‘third’ statement of financial position under 

AASB 101 (2007)); 

• The Scheme does not hold ‘available for sale’ investments and does not engage in cash flow hedging; 

• There are no foreign exchange reserves or other entries directly to reserves (arising for example from hedge accounting or 

asset classification); and 

• The functional currency is Australian dollars. 

 

We see this publication as an illustration and strongly encourage preparers of financial statements to ensure that disclosures 

made are relevant, practical and useful.  

Deloitte has a dedicated Wealth Management team that can provide assistance and advice to individual clients on the 

application of the more complex matters arising in the preparation of the annual financial statements, or indeed in relation to 

other wealth management related matters. Further details of this team and the services we can provide is set out on the inside 

cover of this report.  
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Source references 

References to the relevant requirements are provided in the left hand column of each page of the illustrative report. Where 

doubt exists as to the appropriate treatment, examination of the source of the disclosure requirement is recommended. 

Abbreviations used in this illustration are as follows: 

AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board, or reference to an Accounting Standard issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board 

ASIC Australian Securities and Investments Commission 

ASIC-CO Australian Securities and Investments Commission Class Order issued pursuant to s.341(1) of the 
Corporations Act 2001 

ASIC-RG Australian Securities and Investments Commission Regulatory Guide 

ASX Australian Stock Exchange Limited, or reference to a Listing Rule of the Australian Stock Exchange  

IASB International Accounting Standards Board 

IFRS/IAS International Financial Reporting Standard issued by the IASB or its predecessor 

IFRIC International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee or its predecessor, or reference to an 
Interpretation issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 

Int Interpretation issued by the AASB 

Reg Regulation of the Corporations Regulations 2001 

s. Section of the Corporations Act 2001 
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Source  Elucidation Fund 

 

Directors’ report  

ASIC-CO 98/2395 Information required by s.306 may be transferred to a document attached to the directors’ report and half 
year financial report where a clear cross reference to the pages containing the excluded information 
exists and certain conditions are satisfied. Where the information is transferred to the half year financial 
report it will be subject to audit or review. 

s.1308(7) Where the directors’ report contains information in addition to that required by the Corporations Act 2001, 
the information will be regarded as part of the directors’ report for the purposes of s.1308 ‘False or 
misleading statements’. 

  

 The directors of Elucidation Fund Management Limited, the Responsible Entity of the fund, submit 
herewith the financial report of Elucidation Fund and its controlled funds (the Fund) for the half year 
ended 31 December 2010. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the 
directors report as follows: 

s.306(1)(b) The names of the directors of the Responsible Entity during or since the end of the financial year are: 

  

Name   

Mr C.J. Chambers 

Mr P.H. Taylor 

Ms F.R. Ridley 

Mr A.K. Black 

Mr B.M. Stavrinidis 

Mr W.K. Flinders  

Ms L.A. Lochert 

Ms S.M. Saunders 

  

s.306(1)(b) The above named directors held office during and since the end of the half year except for: 

Mr W.K. Flinders – resigned 20 July 2010 

 Ms S.M. Saunders – appointed 2 August 2010 

 Ms L.A. Lochert – appointed 30 July 2010 and resigned 3 December 2010 

 

Review of operations 

s.306(1)(a) The directors’ report must contain a review of the consolidated fund’s operations during the half year and 
the results of those operations. The Corporations Act 2001 contains no guidance on the contents of this 
review. 

 

The directors of a Responsible Entity may wish to include: 

• The investment performance of the fund for the reporting period based on the calculation requirements 
of FSC Standard No.6 “Product Performance Calculation of Returns” for the past five years; 

• A table showing separately capital growth and distributions and where a particular benchmark is 
meaningful, displaying these against that benchmark;  

• A graph in which performance results are displayed against that same benchmark; 

• Management costs (in percentage terms) calculated for the past three years (please also refer to page 
C4 for our summary of the Indirect Cost Ratio); and 

• The ex-distribution Exit Price for the fund as at the close of business on the reporting date for the past 
five years. The highest and the lowest Exit Price during the year for each of the past five years. 

 

Service Providers 

These disclosures 
are recommended 
but not required 

The service providers during or since the end of the financial year are: 

• Responsible Entity 

• Custodian 

• Auditor 
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Source  Elucidation Fund 

 

Corporations 
Amendment 
Regulations 2005 
(No. 1) 

Management costs 

The Indirect Cost Ratio (“ICR”) was introduced into law by the Corporations Amendment Regulations 
2005 (No.1) dated 10 March 2005. Note that the disclosure of measures of management costs in 
Financial Reports is not legislated, but is standard industry practice.  

The ICR for a Fund is the ratio of the Fund’s management costs that are not deducted directly from an 
investor’s account to the Fund’s total average net assets: 

• To be presented as a dollar figure as well as a percentage; 

• To be calculated at the end of each reporting period; 

• Uses the average fund size during the period; and 

• Does not include fees that are directly deducted from an investor’s account. 

The definition of management costs includes: 

• Administration costs; 

• Custodial fees; 

• Distribution costs; 

• Other expenses and reimbursements; 

• Investment costs; 

• Accounts deducted from a common fund; and 

• Estimated and actual performance fees. 

The definition of management costs excludes: 

• Transactional and operational costs (such as brokerage, buy-sell spreads, settlement costs, clearing - 
costs, stamp duty), 

• Establishment fees; 

• Switching fees; 

• Contribution fees; 

• Termination and withdrawal fees; 

• Incidental fees; and 

• any other costs that an investor would incur when investing directly in the underlying assets. 

Note that this is not a comprehensive description of the ICR requirements. Refer to the Corporations 
Amendment Regulations 2005 (No. 1) for a detailed description of the requirements. 

Auditor’s independence declaration 

 

s.306(2) The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 30 of the half year report. 

ASIC-CO 98/2395 The auditor’s declaration under s.307C in relation to the audit or review for the half year may be 
transferred from the directors’ report into a document which is included with the directors’ report and the 
half year financial report. The auditor’s independence declaration may not be transferred to the half year 
financial report. The directors’ report must include a clear cross-reference to the page(s) containing the 
auditor’s declaration. 

 

True and fair view 

s.306(2) If the half year financial report includes additional information in the notes to the condensed consolidated 
financial statements necessary to give a true and fair view of the financial performance and position of 
the disclosing entity (including the consolidated fund), the directors’ report must also: 

(a) set out the directors’ reasons for forming the opinion that the inclusion of that additional information 
was necessary to give a true and fair view required by s.305; and 

(b) specify where that information can be found in the half year financial report. 

ASIC-CO 98/2395 This additional information may not be transferred to the half year financial report. 

 

 

 

Rounding off of amounts 
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ASIC-CO 98/0100 The Fund is a Fund of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in 
accordance with that Class Order amounts in the directors’ report and the half year financial report are 
rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated. 

ASIC-CO 98/0100 If the fund is of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and consequently 
the amounts in the directors’ report and the half year financial report are rounded, that fact must be 
disclosed in the financial report or the directors’ report. Refer Section B of this publication for further 
information about ASIC Class Order 98/0100, including the conditions that must be met for relief under 
the class order to be available. 

  

s.306(3) Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to s.306(3) of the Corporations Act 
2001. 

  

On behalf of the Directors of the Responsible Entity, Elucidation Fund Management Limited. 

 

(Signature) 

C.J. Chambers 

Director 

Melbourne, 15 February 2010 
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 Auditor’s independence declaration 

 An auditor’s independence declaration shall be prepared by the auditor in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001. This publication does not include an illustrative auditors’ independence 
declaration. 
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Source reference Elucidation Fund 

s.307C(1), (3) If an audit firm, audit company or individual auditor conducts an audit or review of the financial report for 
a half year, the lead auditor must give the directors of the Fund, registered fund or disclosing entity a 
written declaration that, to the best of the lead auditor’s knowledge and belief, there have been: 

• no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation 
to the audit or review; and 

• no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit or review; or 

A written declaration that, to the best of the lead auditor’s knowledge and belief, the only contraventions 
of: 

• the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit or review; 
or 

• any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit or review; 

are those contraventions details of which are set out in the declaration. 

s.307C(5)(a) The auditor’s independence declaration must be given when the audit report is given to the directors of 
the Fund, registered fund or disclosing entity (other than when the conditions in s.307(5A) are satisfied 
– see below) and must be signed by the person making the declaration. 

s.307(5A) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

s.307C(5B) 

A declaration under s.307C(1) or s.307C(3) in relation to a financial report for a half year satisfies the 
conditions in this subsection if: 

• the declaration is given to the directors of the Fund, registered fund or disclosing entity before the 
directors pass a resolution under s.306(3) in relation to the directors’ report for the half year; and 

• a director signs the directors’ report within 7 days after the declaration is given to the directors; and 

• the auditors’ report on the financial report is made within 7 days after the directors’ report is signed; 
and 

• the auditors’ report includes either of the following statements: 

− a statement to the effect that the declaration would be in the same terms if it had been given to the 
directors at the time that auditors’ report was made; 

− a statement to the effect that circumstances have changed since the declaration was given to the 
directors, and setting out how the declaration would differ if it had been given to the directors at the 
time the auditor’s report was made. 

An individual auditor or lead auditor is not required to give a declaration under s.307(1) and s.307(3) in 
respect of a contravention if: 

• the contravention was a contravention by a person of s.324CE(2) or s.324CG(2) (strict liability 
contravention of specific independence requirements by individual auditor or audit firm), or 
s.324CF(2) (contravention of independence requirements by members of audit firms); and 

• the person does not commit an offence because of s.324CE(4), s.324CF(4) or s.324CG(4) (quality 
control system defence). 
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Source reference  

 Independent auditors’ report 

 An independent auditor’s report shall be prepared by the auditor in accordance with the Australian 
Auditing Standards. This publication does not include an illustrative auditors’ report. 
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Source reference Elucidation Fund 

 

Directors’ declaration 

 The content in the directors’ declaration illustrated below is included by way of example and may 
depend upon the provisions of the Fund’s constitution. 

 The directors of the Responsible Entity declare that: 

s.303(4)(c) • In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Fund will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they become due and payable; and 

s.303(4)(d) • In the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair 
view of the financial position and performance of the consolidated fund. 

  

s.303(5) Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.303(5) of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

  

 On behalf of the Directors of the Responsible Entity, Elucidation Fund Management Limited. 

  

  

 (Signature) 

s.303(5) 

 

 

 

s.303(5) 

 

C.J. Chambers 

Director 

 

Melbourne, 15 February 2010 
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Condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the half year  

ended 31 December 2010 

  

    Consolidated 

Half year ended     

 

 

Notes  31 
December 
2010 
$’000 

 31 
December 
2009 
$’000 

 Income   $’000  $’000 

 Dividends   1,722  2,228 

 Distributions   2,310  1,428 

 Interest   695  3,555 

 Rental income   473  421 

 Unrealised changes in fair value of investments   13,770  9,311 

 Realised gains on disposal of investments   9,430  7,982 

 Net foreign currency gains   2,953  4.155 

 Other income (aggregate of immaterial items)   23  4 

 Total income   31,376  29,064 

       

 Expenses      

 Investment management fee   976  1,008 

 Scheme administration fee   290  913 

 Custodian fee   186   

 Other expenses   140  263 

 Auditor’s remuneration   36  35 

 Finance costs (excluding finance costs attributable to 
unitholders)   5,185 

 
4,834 

 Total expenses   6,813  7,053 

 Profit attributable to unitholders of the parent   24,563  22,011 

       

 Finance costs attributable to unitholders of the parent      

 Distributions to unitholders      

 Increase in net assets attributable to unitholders of the parent   (24,563)  (22,011) 

 Net profit   -  - 

       

 Other comprehensive income      

 Gain/(loss) on available-for-sale investments taken to equity   -  - 

 Gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges taken to equity   -  - 

 Gain/(loss) on revaluation of properties   -  - 

       

 Other comprehensive income for the period   -  - 

 Total comprehensive income for the period   -  - 

       

       

       

 Notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements have been included in the accompanying pages. 
 
Source references: AASB134.8(b)(i), 10, 11, 14 and 20(b) 

 

 This statement is an illustrative example of how a scheme might present its statement of comprehensive 
income. An individual scheme will choose a format which they consider to be the most relevant and 
understandable to the users of the annual report. 

In determining the appropriate format, preparers may wish to refer to Illustrative Example 7 in AASB 132 
Financial Instruments: Presentation. 
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The guidance below is extracted from Accounting Standards as they relate to the preparation of the primary financial 
statements for an annual financial report. Some required disclosures are permitted to be made either on the face of the financial 
statements or in the notes to the financial statements. Where an entity chooses to disclose such items on the face of the 
financial statements in the annual financial report, they should also be presented on the face of the financial statements in the 
interim financial report. Where a scheme chooses to disclose such items in the notes to the financial statements in the annual 
financial report, such disclosures are not required in the interim financial report unless they are otherwise required by AASB 
134. 
Similarly, some requirements of the Accounting Standards relating to the preparation of the primary financial statements for an 
annual financial report require disclosures in the notes to the financial statements. Where disclosures are required only in the 
notes to the financial statements in the annual financial report, such disclosures are not required in the interim financial report 
unless they are otherwise required by AASB 134. 

 

 Presentation of income and expenses 

AASB101.81 A scheme shall present all items of income and expense recognised in a period: 

(a)  in a single statement of comprehensive income; or 

(b)  in two statements 

(i) a statement displaying components of profit or loss (separate income statement); and  

(ii) a second statement beginning with profit or loss and displaying components of other comprehensive 
income (statement of comprehensive income). 

For illustration purposes, this financial statement only represents a single statement of comprehensive 
income. 

  

AASB101.82 As a minimum, the statement of comprehensive income shall include line items that present the following 
amounts for the period: 
(a) revenue; 
(b) finance costs; 
(c) share of the profit or loss of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method; 
(d) tax expense; 
(e) a single amount comprising of: 

(i) the post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations; and 

(ii) the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to sell or on the 

disposal of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued operation; 

(f) profit or loss; 
(g) each component of other comprehensive income classified by nature (excluding amounts in (h)); 
(h) share of the other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity 
method; and 

(i) total comprehensive income. 

  

AASB101.84 A scheme may present in a separate income statement the line items in paragraph a – f (above) and the 
allocation of profit or loss for the period between non-controlling interest and owners of the parent. 

  

AASB101.83 An scheme shall disclose the following allocations in the statement of comprehensive income for the period: 
(a) profit or loss for the period attributable to: 

(i) non-controlling interest; and 

(ii) owners of the parent; and 

(b) total comprehensive income for the period attributable to: 

(i) non-controlling interest; and 

(ii) owners of the parent. 

  

AASB101.88 All items of income and expense recognised in a period are to be included in profit or loss unless another 
Accounting Standard requires otherwise. Other Accounting Standards require some gains and losses (for 
example, revaluation increases and decreases, particular foreign exchange differences, gains or losses on 
remeasuring available-for-sale financial assets, and related amounts of current tax and deferred tax) to be 
recognised directly as changes in equity. 
 
 
Examples of items of income and expense recognised directly in equity not illustrated in these model financial 
statements include: 
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• gains/losses on a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation 
• transfers to profit or loss on impairment of available-for-sale financial assets 
• transfers to profit or loss on sale of available-for-sale financial assets 
• share of increments in reserves attributable to associates 
• share of increments in reserves attributable to jointly controlled entities. 

  

AASB101.99,10
0 

An scheme shall present, in the statement of comprehensive income or in the separate income 
statement (if presented), or in the notes, an analysis of expenses recognised in profit or loss 
using a classification based on either their nature or their function within the scheme, whichever 
provides information that is reliable and more relevant. Sub-classifications of expenses by nature 
or function have been illustrated in the example on the face of the separate income statement 
and in the statement of comprehensive income respectively as is encouraged by the Accounting 
Standard. 

  

AASB101.105 The choice between the function of expense method and the nature of expense method depends 
on historical and industry factors and the nature of the scheme. Both methods provide an indication 
of those costs that might vary, directly or indirectly, with the level of sales or production of the 
scheme. Because each method of presentation has merit for different types of entities, management 
is required to select the most relevant and reliable presentation. However, because information 
on the nature of expenses is useful in predicting future cash flows, additional disclosure is 
required when the function of expense classification is used. 

  

AASB101.29, 30 

AASB101.31 

Regardless of whether expenses are classified by nature or by function, each material class is 
separately disclosed. Unclassified expenses that are immaterial both individually and in 
aggregate may be combined and presented as a single line item. An item that is not sufficiently 
material to warrant separate presentation on the face of the financial statements may 
nevertheless be sufficiently material for it to be presented separately in the notes. It follows that 
the total of unclassified expenses is unlikely to exceed 10 per cent of total expenses classified by 
nature or by function, whether disclosed either on the face or in the notes to the financial statements. 

  

 Offsetting 

AASB101.32 A scheme shall not offset income and expenses, unless required or permitted by an Australian Accounting 
Standard. 

AASB101.35 A scheme presents on a net basis gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions, for example, 
foreign exchange gains and losses or gains and losses arising on financial instruments held for trading. 
However, a scheme presents such gains and losses separately if they are material. 

  

 Disclosure of specific income and expenses 

AASB101.97 When items of income and expense are material, an scheme shall disclose their nature and amount 
separately either in the statement of comprehensive income and the separate income statement 

(if presented) or in the notes. 

  

 Disclosure of additional information 

AASB101.85 A scheme shall present additional line items, headings and subtotals in the statement of comprehensive 
income and the separate income statement (if presented), when such presentation is relevant to an 
understanding of the scheme’s financial performance. 

  

 Prohibition on extraordinary items 

AASB101.87 A scheme shall not present any items of income or expense as extraordinary items, in the statement of 
comprehensive income or the separate income statement (if presented), or in the notes. 
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Condensed consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2010 

  Consolidated 

 

 Note  

31 December 
2010 

$’000 

30 June 
2010 

$’000 

Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents    24,516 11,598 

Trade and other receivables    8,972 9,595 

Listed equities and listed schemes at fair value  8  85,326 124,966 

Unlisted equities at fair value    17,637 16,387 

Unlisted Schemes at fair value¹    1,101 950 

Held-to-maturity investments carried at amortised cost    61,800 74,400 

Loans and receivables carried at amortised cost    3,637 3,088 

Investment property at fair value    9,562 8,763 

Other assets    16,681 17,878 

Total assets    229,232 267,625 

      

Liabilities      

Payables    1,155 1,432 

Distributions payable  3  - 37,541 

Interest bearing liabilities    2,400 2,400 

Non-controlling interests of the consolidated fund (i.e. minority interests)    37,613 37,708 

Total liabilities    41,168 79,081 

      

Net assets attributable to unitholders of the parent  6  188,064 188,544 

      

Liability attributable to unitholders of the parent    (188,064) (188,544) 

      

Net assets    - - 

      

 Notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements have been included in the accompanying pages. 

Source references: AASB134.8(a), 10, 14 and 20(a) 

 

 This statement is an illustrative example of how a scheme might present its statement of comprehensive 
income. An individual scheme will choose a format which they consider to be the most relevant and 
understandable to the users of the annual report. 

In determining the appropriate format, preparers may wish to refer to Illustrative Example 7 in AASB 132 
Financial Instruments: Presentation. 

 

¹ Although this is an illustrative guide to how investments may be presented, industry practice if diverse and descriptions can range from being very granular to much higher level. 
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Condensed consolidated statement of changes in equity  
for the half year ended 31 December 2010 

   

Consolidated 

[Equity attributable to 
unitholders of the parent*] 

[Equity attributable to non-
controlling interests of the 
consolidated fund*] Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Balance at 1 July 2009  - - - 

    

Profit for the period - - - 

Other Comprehensive income for the period - - - 

Total Comprehensive income for the 
period - - - 

Balance at 31 December 2009 - - - 

    

Balance at 1 July 2010 - - - 

Other Comprehensive income for the period - - - 

Total Comprehensive income for the 
period - - - 

Balance at 31 December 2010 - - - 

       

Notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements have been included in the accompanying pages. 

 

Source references: AASB134.8(c), 10, 14 and 20(c) 

 

* Describe each class of equity attributable to unitholders 
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 Third statement of financial position 

AASB101.10(f) A scheme is required to present a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the earliest 
comparative period when it applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective 
restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its financial statements.  

  

 AASB 101(2007) provides no further clarification as to when an entity is required to present an additional 
statement of financial position. It will often be necessary to exercise judgement in determining whether an 
additional statement of financial position at the beginning of the earliest comparative period is required. 
When applying judgement, it is necessary to consider whether the information set out in an additional 
statement of financial position would be material to users of the financial statements. AASB 101(2007).31 
states that “[a]n entity need not provide a specific disclosure required by an Australian Accounting 
Standard if the information is not material”.  

 

 IAS 1(2007).BC32 notes that “considering that financial statements from prior years are readily available 
for financial analysis, the Board decided to require only two statements of financial position, except when 
the financial statements have been affected by retrospective application or retrospective restatement, as 
defined in IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, or when a 
reclassification has been made”. This logic seems to suggest that an additional statement of financial 
position may be required when it provides additional information that was not included in prior year 
financial statements. Conversely, if there would be no changes to the information that was included in 
prior year financial statements, this may suggest that the information set out in an additional statement of 
financial position would not be material to users of the financial statements.  

  

 Accordingly, in determining whether it is necessary to present an additional statement of financial 
position, entities should consider the materiality of the information that would be contained in a third 
statement of financial position and whether this would affect economic decisions made by a user of the 
financial statements. In doing so, it would be useful to take into consideration factors such as the nature 
of the change, the alternative disclosures provided and whether the change in accounting policy actually 
affected the financial position at the beginning of the comparative period. Additionally, specific views from 
regulators should be considered in this assessment.  

  

 This Model Annual Report does not include an additional statement of financial position 

  

 Offsetting 

AASB101.32 A scheme shall not offset assets and liabilities, unless required or permitted by an Accounting Standard, 
for example, AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. 

  

  

  



Elucidation Fund 

 Model managed investment scheme financial statement for the half year ending December 31, 2010 40 

 

Contact Deloitte for more information about the presentation of your financial statements 

Condensed consolidated statement of cash flows  
for the half year ended 31 December 2010 

 
 Consolidated 

 
 Half year ended 

 

   

31 December 
2010 

$’000 

31 December 
2009 

$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities      

Dividends and distributions received    3,557 3,696 

Interest received    886 876 

Management fees paid    (1,297) (1,626) 

Other expenses paid    (600) (1,784) 

Interest and other finance costs paid(excl. distributions to unitholders)  (120) (240) 

Other income received    56 3 

      

Net cash provided by operating activities    2,482 725 

      

Cash flows from investing activities      

Payment for financial securities    (270,154) (595,283) 

Proceeds on sale of financial securities    349,182 632,542 

Payments for investment property    (1,000) (25,000) 

Proceeds on sale of investment property    - 32,000 

      

Net cash provided by investing activities    78,028 44,259 

      

Cash flows from financing activities      

Receipts from the issue of units to unitholders of the parent    38,380 148,015 

Receipts from the issue of units to non-controlling interests of the consolidated fund  7,676 29,603 

Payment for the redemption of units to unitholders of the parent    (93,326) (157,033) 

Payment for the redemption of units to non-controlling interests of the consolidated fund  (18,665) (31,407) 

Repayment of borrowings    - (6,000) 

Proceeds from borrowings    - 3,600 

Distributions paid to unitholders of the parent  3  (1,326) (25,173) 

Distributions paid to non-controlling interests of the consolidated fund  3  (331) (6,293) 

      

Net cash used in financing activities    (67,592) (44,688) 

      

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    12,918 296 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period    11,598 10,089 

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies  - - 

      

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period    24,516 10,385 

      

Notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements have been included in the accompanying pages. 

Source references: AASB134.8(d), 10, 11, 14 and 20(d) 
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AASB134.8(e) Notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements 

 1. Significant accounting policies 

 Statement of compliance 

AASB134.19 The half year financial report is a general purpose financial report prepared in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 and AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting. Compliance with AASB 134 ensures 
compliance with International Financial Reporting Standard IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. The half 
year report does not include notes of the type normally included in an annual financial report and shall 
be read in conjunction with the most recent annual financial report. 

 Basis of preparation 

 The condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, 
except for the revaluation of certain non-current assets and financial instruments. Cost is based on the 
fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian 
dollars, unless otherwise noted. 

ASIC-CO 98/0100 The Fund is a fund of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in 
accordance with that Class Order amounts in the directors’ report and the half year financial report are 
rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated. 

AASB134.16(a) The accounting policies and methods of computation adopted in the preparation of the half year 
financial report are consistent with those adopted and disclosed in the Fund’s 2010 annual financial 
report for the financial year ended 30 June 2010, except for the impact of the Standards and 
Interpretations described below. These accounting policies are consistent with Australian Accounting 
Standards and with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 New or revised Standards and Interpretations that are first effective in the current reporting 
period. 

 The disclosures below illustrate the types of disclosure that should be made in respect of changes 
resulting from the adoption of the new or revised Standards and Interpretations. Users of this illustrative 
half year report are encouraged to refer to Section A ‘What’s new for financial reports at December 
2010?’ to determine the Standards and Interpretations that are now effective and the impact of adoption 
of these Standards and Interpretations on financial reporting for the half year ended 31 December 2010. 
Please contact your Deloitte advisor for further information about the implications of the new or revised 
Standards and Interpretations to your business. 

AASB134.16(a), 
s.334(5) 

The Fund has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to their operations and effective for 
the current reporting period: 

• Amendments to AASB 5, 8, 101, 107, 117, 118, 136 and 139 as a consequence of AASB 2009-5 
Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements 
Project 

AASB 2009-5 Introduces amendments into Accounting Standards that are equivalent to those made by 
the IASB under its program of annual improvements to its standards. A number of the amendments are 
largely technical, clarifying particular terms, or eliminating unintended consequences. Other changes 
are more substantial, such as the current/non-current classification of convertible instruments, the 
classification of expenditures on unrecognised assets in the statement of cash flows and the 
classification of leases of land and buildings.  

The adoption of these amendments has not resulted in any changes to the Fund’s accounting policies 
and have no affect on the amounts reported for the current or prior periods. 

  

AASB134.16(a) Where accounting policy or methods of computation changes have been made since the most recent 
annual financial statements, the half year financial report shall include a description of the nature and 
effect of the change. 

AASB134.43 A change in accounting policy, other than one for which the transition is specified by a new Australian 
Accounting Standard, shall be reflected by: 

• restating the financial statements of the comparable half year period of any prior annual reporting 
periods that will be restated in the annual financial statements in accordance with AASB 108 
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors; or 

• when it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effect at the beginning of the annual reporting 
period of applying a new accounting policy to all prior periods, adjusting the financial statements of 
the comparable half year period of any prior annual reporting periods to apply the new accounting 
policy prospectively from the earliest date practicable. 

AASB134.44 That is, any change in accounting policy is applied either retrospectively or, if that is not practicable, 
prospectively, from no later than the beginning of the annual reporting period. 
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 1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments 

Management uses its judgment in selecting an appropriate valuation technique for financial instruments 
that are not quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques commonly used by market practitioners 
are applied. For derivative financial instruments, assumptions are made based on quoted market rates 
adjusted for specific features of the instrument. Other financial instruments are valued using a 
discounted cash flow analysis based on assumptions supported, where possible, by observable market 
prices or rates. The estimation of fair value of unlisted shares includes some assumptions not 
supported by observable market prices or rates. The carrying amount of the units is $419 thousand 
(2009: nil).  

  

2. Results for the period 

AASB134.16(c) The notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements shall disclose, if material and if not 
disclosed elsewhere in the half year financial report, the nature and amount of items affecting assets, 
liabilities, profit or loss, or cash flows that are unusual because of their nature, size or incidence. 

AASB134.17 Examples of the kinds of disclosures that may be required are set out below: 

• recognition of a loss from the impairment of property, , or other assets, and the reversal of such an 
impairment loss; 

• the reversal of any provisions for the costs of restructuring; 

• acquisitions and disposals of items of property; 

• commitments for the purchase of property; 

• litigation settlements; 

• corrections of prior period errors; 

• any loan default or breach of a loan agreement that has not been remedied on or before the reporting 
date; and 

• related party transactions. 

 

  

 3. Distributions 

AASB134.16(f) During the period, Elucidation Fund made the following distribution payments: 

   31 December 2010  31 December 2009 

   Cents  
per unit 

Total 
$’000  

Cents  
per unit 

Total 
$’000 

 Distribution payable   - -  - - 

 Distribution for the period  - -  - - 

        

AASB134.16(h) There were no distributions for the half year. In accordance with the funds’ constitution, distributions 
take place once a year at the end when the taxable income is fully determined.  

 The constitution of a Fund normally requires that the assessable income of the Fund is fully distributed, 
either by way of cash or reinvestment (i.e. unitholders are usually entitled to the entire taxable income 
of the Fund). In addition, under current income tax legislation, the fund is not liable to pay income tax as 
long as the income of the fund is fully distributed to unitholders. 

 

  

 4. Contingencies and commitments 

  

AASB134.16(j) The notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements shall disclose changes in contingent 
liabilities or contingent assets since the end of the last annual reporting period, if material and if not 
disclosed elsewhere in the half year financial report. 
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 5. Acquisitions and disposals 

  

AASB134.16(i) The notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements shall disclose changes in contingent 
liabilities or contingent assets since the end of the last annual reporting period, if material and if not 
disclosed elsewhere in the half year financial report. 

 Business combinations 

 Where there has been a business combination during or since the end of the interim period, AASB 
134.16(i) requires disclosure of the information required by AASB 3 Business Combinations (2008) in 
the interim financial report. 

 AASB 3(2008): 

• allows a choice on a transaction-by-transaction basis for the measurement of non-controlling interests 
(previously referred to as ‘minority’ interests). In the current period, in accounting for the acquisition of 
the controlled fund, the consolidated fund has elected to measure the non-controlling interests at fair 
value.  

• requires that acquisition-related costs be accounted for separately from the business combination, 
generally leading to those costs being expensed when incurred. Previously such costs were 
accounted for as part of the cost of the acquisition of the business. 

  

 

  

 6. Net assets attributable to unitholders of the Parent.  

  Half year 
Ended 31 
December 
2010 

Half year 
Ended 31 
December 
2009 

  Units Units 

 Units on issue at beginning of the half year  45,000,000 37,801,549 

 Applications 5,066,160 7,844,795 

 Redemptions (11,66,769) (10,387,274) 

 Units issued upon reinvestment of distributions 3,847,196 997,248 

 Units on issue in the parent at end of half year 42,346,587 36,256,318 

    

  $’000 $’000 

 Net assets attributable to unitholders of the parent at beginning of the 
half year 188,544 144,735 

 Unit applications 38,380 148,015 

 Unit redemptions (93,326) (157,033) 

 Units issued upon reinvestment of distributions 29,903 18,816 

 Net transfer from / (to) statement of comprehensive income for the 
half year 24,563 22,011 

 Net assets attributable to unitholders of the parent at end of the 
half year 188,064 176,544 

    

 Each unit represents a right to an individual share in the Fund per the Constitution. There are no 
separate classes of units and each unit has the same rights attaching to it as all other units in the Fund. 
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Source reference Elucidation Fund 

  

 7. Disclosure of additional information 

  

AASB134.16 A fund shall disclose any events or transactions that are material to an understanding of the current half 
year reporting period.  

The IASB has amended IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting as part of Improvements to IFRSs 2010 
project to emphasise the existing disclosure principles in IAS 34 that the disclosure about significant 
events and transactions in interim periods should update the relevant information presented in the most 
recent annual financial report. It also clarifies how to apply these principles in respect of financial 
instruments and their fair values. The IASB noted that in accordance with IAS 34, an interim financial 
report provides an update on the latest complete set of annual financial statements. When an event or 
transaction is significant to an understanding of the changes in a scheme’s financial position or 
performance since the last annual financial period, in accordance with IAS 34 its interim financial report 
should provide an explanation of, and update to, the information included in the financial statements for 
the last annual financial period. The IASB concluded that IAS 34 provides sufficient guidance to enable 
entities to decide whether updates to fair value disclosures are required in interim financial reports but 
decided to amend IAS 34 to place greater emphasis on those principles and the inclusion of additional 
examples relating to more recent disclosure requirements, i.e., fair value measurements, to improve 
interim financial reporting. The following additional disclosures are provided in the amended IAS 34: 

• changes in the business or economic circumstances that affect the fair value of the scheme’s 
financial assets and financial liabilities, whether those assets or liabilities are recognised at fair value 
or amortised cost 

• transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy used in measuring the fair value of financial 
instruments 

• changes in the classification of financial assets as a result of a change in the purpose or use of those 
assets 

The amended standard is effective from annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Earlier 
application is permitted. 

 Whilst every fund will face different facts and circumstances, some of the major areas where the need 
for updates to annual disclosure may arise as a result of the current economic climate include: 

• judgements made in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty (AASB 
101); 

• financial instrument disclosure – liquidity and market risk, fair values of financial instruments, defaults 
and breaches (AASB 7); 

• information about impairments, reversals of impairments, assumptions and sensitivity analyses 
(AASB 136); 

• uncertainties around provisions and contingent liabilities (AASB 137); 

• events after the end of the reporting period (AASB 110); and 

• information about significant changes to the compensation of key management personnel (AASB 
124). 

 

Source reference Elucidation Fund 

  

 9. Subsequent events 

  

AASB134.16(h) The notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements shall disclose information about material 
events subsequent to the end of the half year reporting period that have not been reflected in the half 
year financial statements, if material and if not disclosed elsewhere in the half year financial report. 
Further guidance concerning the disclosure of subsequent events is contained in Accounting Standard 
AASB 110 Events after the end of the reporting period. 
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About this checklist  

This checklist addresses the presentation and disclosure requirements of AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting, as amended 

for pronouncements issued up to 31 December 2010. It does not address the requirements of AASB 134 as regards recognition 

and measurement. 

This checklist may be used to assist in considering your compliance with the presentation and disclosure requirements of AASB 

134. It is not a substitute for your understanding of the pronouncement and the exercise of your judgement. You are presumed 

to have a thorough understanding of the pronouncement and should refer to the text of the Accounting Standards, as 

necessary, in considering particular items in this checklist. The items in this checklist are referenced to the applicable sections 

of the actual pronouncement.  

This document is of a general nature only and is not intended to be relied upon as, nor to be a substitute for, specific 

professional advice. We accept no responsibility for any loss suffered as a result of reliance placed on this document by any 

party.  

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure that this checklist is complete in terms of the presentation and disclosure 

requirements of AASB 134, users will inevitably be required to exercise professional judgement based on specific 

circumstances. This checklist is merely an enabling tool that does not address such judgemental issues. Users of this checklist 

are advised to consult with their professional advisors in that regard. 

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations are constantly evolving. It is the responsibility of users of this checklist to 

maintain current knowledge of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations which may impact the content of this 

checklist. 

The detailed presentation and disclosure points generally require a ‘Yes’, ‘No’ or ‘N/A’ response. Depending on the response, 

you may need to take further action. 

Note that: 

• this checklist is not suitable for use in assessing presentation and disclosure in the first half year financial report that is 

prepared in accordance with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards;  

• where a fund elects to present a complete financial report, the form and content of that report shall conform to the 

requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements for a financial report; and  

• even where a condensed half year financial report is prepared, certain requirements of AASB 101 apply. The sections 

applicable to condensed half year financial reports, as set out in AASB 101(2007).15 – 35 deal with:  

– fair presentation and compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards; 

– going concern; 

– accrual basis of accounting; 

– materiality and aggregation; and 

– offsetting. 

These have not been incorporated into the checklist. 
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Reference Presentation/disclosure requirement Yes / No / N/A 

Minimum components of an interim financial report 

AASB 134.6 Note:  AASB 134 defines the minimum content of an interim financial report as including 
condensed financial statements and selected explanatory notes. The interim 
financial report is intended to provide an update on the latest complete set of 
annual financial statements. Accordingly, it focuses on new activities, events, and 
circumstances and, except for comparatives, does not duplicate information 
previously reported.  

 

 

AASB 134.8(a) 

AASB 134.8(b) 

 
 
 
AASB 134.8(c) 

AASB 134.8(d) 

AASB 134.8(e) 

An interim financial report shall include, at a minimum, the following components: 

(a) a condensed statement of financial position; 

(b) a condensed statement of comprehensive income, presented as either: 

(i) a condensed single statement; or 

(ii) a condensed separate income statement and a condensed statement of 
comprehensive income; 

(c) a condensed statement of changes in equity; 

(d) a condensed statement of cash flows; and 

(e) selected explanatory notes. 

 

AASB 134.8A Note:  If a fund presents the components of profit or loss in a separate income statement 
as described in paragraph 81 of AASB 101, Presentation of Financial Statements 
(2007), it presents interim condensed information from that separate statement. 

 

Form and content of financial statements 

AASB 134.9 If a fund publishes a complete set of financial statements in its interim  
financial report, the form and content of those statements shall conform to the 
requirements of AASB 101 for a complete set of financial statements. 

 

 Note:  Even where the fund prepares a condensed interim report, some sections of AASB 
101(2007) apply – see the introductory notes at the beginning of this checklist. 

 

AASB 134.10 If a fund publishes a set of condensed financial statements in its interim financial report, 
those condensed statements shall include, at a minimum, each of the headings and 
subtotals that were included in its most recent annual financial statements and the 
selected explanatory notes as required by AASB 134.  

 

AASB 134.10 Additional line items or notes shall be included if their omission would make the 
condensed interim financial statements misleading. 

 

AASB 134.7 

 

Note:  Where a fund has opted to publish a complete set of financial statements the 
interim period, the recognition and measurement guidance in AASB 134 applies to 
those financial statements, and such statements should include all of the 
disclosures required by AASB 134 (particularly the selected note disclosures in 
paragraph 16 of AASB 134) and those required by other Australian Accounting 
Standards.  

 

AASB 134.11 In the statement that presents the components of profit or loss for an interim period, a 
fund shall present basic and diluted earnings per share for that period when the fund is 
within scope of AASB 133 Earnings per Share. 

 

AASB 134.11A Note:  If a fund presents the components of profit or loss in a separate income statement 
as described in paragraph 81 of AASB 101(2007), it presents basic and diluted 
earnings per share in that separate statement. 

 

AASB 134.14 An interim financial report is prepared on a consolidated basis if the fund’s most recent 
annual financial statements were consolidated statements. 

 

AASB 134.14 Note: The parent’s separate financial statements are not consistent or comparable with 
the consolidated statements in the most recent annual financial report. If a fund’s 
annual financial report included the parent’s separate financial statements in 
addition to consolidated financial statements, AASB 134 neither requires nor 
prohibits the inclusion of the parent’s separate statements in the fund’s interim 
financial report. 
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Reference Presentation/disclosure requirement Yes / No / N/A 

Selected explanatory notes   

AASB 134.15 Note:  A user of a fund’s interim financial report will also have access to the most recent 
annual financial report of that fund. It is unnecessary, therefore, for the notes in an 
interim financial report to provide relatively insignificant updates to the information 
that was already reported in the notes in the most recent annual report. At an 
interim date, an explanation of events and transactions that are significant to an 
understanding of the changes in financial position and performance of the fund 
since the last annual reporting date is more useful. 

 

AASB 134.16 A fund shall include the following information, as a minimum, in the notes in the interim 
financial report, if material and if not disclosed elsewhere in the interim financial report: 

 

AASB 134.16(a) (a) a statement that the same accounting policies and methods of computation are 
followed in the interim financial report as compared with the most recent annual 
financial statements or, if those policies or methods have been changed, a 
description of the nature and effect of the change; 

 

AASB 134.16(b)  (b) explanatory comments about the seasonality or cyclicality of interim operations;  

AASB 134.16(c) (c) the nature and amount of items affecting assets, liabilities, equity, profit or loss, or 
cash flows that are unusual because of their nature, size, or incidence; 

 

AASB 134.16(d) (d) the nature and amount of changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior interim 
periods of the current annual reporting period or changes in estimates of amounts 
reported in prior annual reporting periods, if those changes have a material effect in 
the current interim period; 

 

AASB 134.16(e) (e) issuances, repurchases, and repayments of debt and equity securities;  

AASB 134.16(f) (f) dividends paid (aggregate or per share) separately for ordinary shares and other 
shares; 

 

AASB 134.16(g) (g) if AASB 8 Operating Segments requires that fund to disclose segment information 
in its annual financial statements, the following segment information : 

 

AASB 134.16(g)(i) (i) revenues from external customers, if included in the measure of segment 
profit or loss reviewed by the chief operating decision maker or otherwise 
regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker; 

 

AASB 
134.16(g)(ii) 

(ii) intersegment revenues, if included in the measure of segment profit or loss 
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker or otherwise regularly 
provided to the chief operating decision maker; 

 

AASB 
134.16(g)(iii) 

(iii) a measure of segment profit or loss;  

AASB 
134.16(g)(iv) 

(iv) total assets for which there has been a material change from the amount 
disclosed in the last annual financial report; 

 

AASB 
134.16(g)(v) 

(v) a description of differences from the last annual financial report in the basis 
of segmentation or in the basis of measurement of segment profit or loss; 

 

AASB 
134.16(g)(v) 

(vi) a reconciliation of the total of the reportable segments’ measures of profit or 
loss to the fund’s profit or loss before tax expense (tax income) and 
discontinued operations. However, if a fund allocates to reportable segments 
items such as tax expense (tax income), the fund may reconcile the total of 
the segments’ measures of profit or loss to profit or loss after those items. 
Material reconciling items shall be separately identified and described in that 
reconciliation; 

 

AASB 134.16(h) (h) material events subsequent to the end of the interim period that have not been 
reflected in the financial statements for the interim period; 

 

AASB 134.16(i) (i)  the effect of changes in the composition of the fund during the interim period, 
including business combinations, obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries and 
long-term investments, restructurings, and discontinued operations; and 

 

 Note:  In the case of business combinations, the fund shall disclose the information 
required by AASB 3, Business Combinations (2008). See below for 
information required of business combinations. 

 

AASB 134.16(j)  (j)  changes in contingent liabilities or contingent assets since the end of the last 
annual reporting period. 

 

AASB 134.16 The explanatory notes outlined above (paragraph 16 of AASB 134) shall normally be 
reported on an annual reporting period-to-date basis. 
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Reference Presentation/disclosure requirement Yes / No / N/A 

AASB 134.16 Notwithstanding that the explanatory notes outlined above (paragraph 16 of AASB 134) 
are normally reported on an annual reporting period-to-date basis, the fund shall also 
disclose any events or transactions that are material to an understanding of the current 
interim period. 

 

AASB 134.17 Notes:  

1) Examples of the kinds of disclosures that are required by paragraph 16 of AASB 
134 are set out below. Other Australian Accounting Standards provide guidance 
regarding disclosures for many of these items: 

• the write-down of inventories to net realisable value and the reversal of such a 
write-down; 

• recognition of a loss from the impairment of property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets, or other assets, and the reversal of such an impairment loss; 

• the reversal of any provisions for the costs of restructuring; 

• acquisitions and disposals of items of property, plant and equipment; 

• commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment; 

• litigation settlements; 

• corrections of prior period errors; 

• any loan default or breach of a loan agreement that has not been remedied on 
or before the reporting date; and 

• related party transactions. 

 

AASB 134.18 2) Other Australian Accounting Standards specify disclosures that should be made in 
financial statements. In that context, financial statements means complete sets of 
financial statements of the type normally included in an annual financial report and 
sometimes included in other reports. Except as required by paragraph 16(i) 
(business combinations – see above), the disclosures required by those other 
Australian Accounting Standards are not required if a fund’s interim financial report 
includes only condensed financial statements and selected explanatory notes 
rather than a complete set of financial statements. 

 

Disclosure of compliance with Australian Accounting Standards   

AASB 134.19 If a fund’s interim financial report is in compliance with AASB 134, that fact shall be 
disclosed.  

 

AASB 134.19 Note: An interim financial report shall not be described as complying with Australian 
Accounting Standards unless it complies with all of the requirements of each 
applicable Australian Accounting Standard. 

 

Periods for which interim financial statements are required to be presented  

 Interim reports shall include interim financial statements (condensed or complete) for 
periods as follows: 

 

AASB 134.20(a) (a) statement of financial position as of the end of the current interim period and a 
comparative statement of financial position as of the end of the immediately 
preceding financial year; 

 

AASB 134.20(b)  (b) statements of comprehensive income for the current interim period and 
cumulatively for the current annual reporting period to date, with comparative 
statements of comprehensive income for the comparable interim periods (current 
and annual reporting period to date) of the immediately preceding annual reporting 
period.  

 

AASB 134.20(b) Note:  As permitted by AASB 101(2007), an interim report may present for each 
period either a single statement of comprehensive income, or a statement 
displaying components of profit or loss (separate income statement) and a 
second statement beginning with profit or loss and displaying components of 
other comprehensive income (statement of comprehensive income); 

 

AASB 134.20(c) (c) statement of changes in equity cumulatively for the current annual reporting period 
to date, with a comparative statement for the comparable annual reporting period-
to-date period of the immediately preceding annual reporting period; and 

 

AASB 134.20(d) (d) statement of cash flows cumulatively for the current annual reporting period to 
date, with a comparative statement for the comparable annual reporting period-to-
date period of the immediately preceding annual reporting period. 

 

AASB 134.22 Note: Appendix A to AASB 134 illustrates the periods required to be presented by a fund 
that reports half yearly and a fund that reports quarterly. 
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Reference Presentation/disclosure requirement Yes / No / N/A 

AASB 134.21 Entities whose business is highly seasonal, financial information for the twelve months up 
to the end of the interim period and comparative information for the prior twelve-month 
period may be useful.  

 

AASB 134.21 Note:  If such information is reported, on the basis that it may be useful to users of the 
interim financial report, it is reported in addition to the information required in 
paragraph 20 of AASB 134 (see above). 

 

Materiality  

AASB 134.23 In deciding how to recognise, measure, classify, or disclose an item for interim financial 
reporting purposes, materiality shall be assessed in relation to the interim period financial 
data.  

 

   

 

AASB 134.23 

Notes:  

1) In making assessments of materiality, it shall be recognised that interim 
measurements may rely on estimates to a greater extent than measurements of 
annual financial data. 

 

AASB 134.24 2) In deciding whether an item is material, its nature and amount usually need to be 
evaluated together. AASB 1031, Materiality, provides guidance on the role of 
materiality in making judgements in the preparation and presentation of financial 
statements. AASB 101(2007) and AASB 108, Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors, define an item as material if its omission or 
misstatement could influence the economic decisions of users of the financial 
statements. AASB 101 requires separate disclosure of material items, including (for 
example) discontinued operations, and AASB 108 requires disclosure of changes 
in accounting estimates, errors and changes in accounting policies.  

 

AASB 134.25 3) While judgement is always required in assessing materiality, AASB 134 bases the 
recognition and disclosure decision on data for the interim period by itself for 
reasons of comprehension of the interim figures. Thus, for example, unusual items, 
changes in accounting policies or estimates, and errors are recognised and 
disclosed on the basis of materiality in relation to interim period data to avoid 
misleading inferences that might result from non-disclosure. The overriding goal is 
to ensure that an interim financial report includes all information that is relevant to 
understanding a fund’s financial position and performance during the interim 
period. 

 

Disclosure in annual financial statements  

AASB 134.26 If an estimate of an amount reported in an interim period is changed significantly during 
the final interim period of the annual reporting period but a separate financial report is 
not published for that final interim period, the nature and amount of that change in 
estimate shall be disclosed in a note in the annual financial statements for that annual 
reporting period. 

 

AASB 134.27 Note: AASB 108 requires disclosure of the nature and (if practicable) the amount of a 
change in estimate that either has a material effect in the current period or is 
expected to have a material effect in subsequent periods. Paragraph 16(d) of 
AASB 134 requires similar disclosure in an interim financial report. Examples 
include changes in estimate in the final interim period relating to inventory write-
downs, restructurings, or impairment losses that were reported in an earlier 
interim period of the annual reporting period. The disclosure required by the 
preceding paragraph is consistent with the AASB 108 requirement and is intended 
to be narrow in scope – relating only to the change in accounting estimate. A fund 
is not required to include additional interim period financial information in its 
annual financial statements. 

 

Recognition and measurement   

 Note:  Appendix B of AASB 134 provides examples of applying the general recognition 
and measurement principles set out in paragraphs 28-39. 

 

Same accounting policies as annual financial statements   

AASB 134.28 A fund shall apply the same accounting policies in its interim financial statements as are 
applied in its annual financial statements, except for accounting policy changes made 
after the date of the most recent annual financial statements that are to be reflected in 
the next annual financial statements. 
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Reference Presentation/disclosure requirement Yes / No / N/A 

AASB 134.28 However, the frequency of a fund’s reporting (annual, half yearly, or quarterly) shall not 
affect the measurement of its annual results. To achieve that objective, measurements 
for interim reporting purposes shall be made on an annual reporting period-to-date 
basis. 

 

 Note:  Paragraphs 29 to 36 of AASB 134 provide more guidance on the application of 
the principles set out in paragraph 28 (see above). 

 

Revenues received seasonally, cyclically or occasionally   

AASB 134.37 Revenues that are received seasonally, cyclically, or occasionally within an annual 
reporting period shall not be anticipated or deferred as of an interim date if anticipation 
or deferral would not be appropriate at the end of the fund’s annual reporting period. 

 

AASB 134.38 Note: Examples include dividend revenue, royalties and government grants. 
Additionally, some entities consistently earn more revenues in certain interim 
periods of an annual reporting period than in other interim periods, for example, 
seasonal revenues of retailers. Such revenues are recognised when they occur. 

 

Costs incurred unevenly during the financial year  

AASB 134.39 Costs that are incurred unevenly during a fund’s annual reporting period shall be 
anticipated or deferred for interim reporting purposes if, and only if, it is also appropriate 
to anticipate or defer that type of cost at the end of each annual reporting period. 

 

 

AASB 134.41 

Notes: 

1) The measurement procedures to be followed in an interim financial report shall be 
designed to ensure that the resulting information is reliable and that all material 
financial information and that all material financial information that is relevant to an 
understanding of the financial position or performance of the entity is appropriately 
disclosed. While measurements in both annual and interim financial reports are 
often based on reasonable estimates, the preparation of interim financial reports 
generally will require a greater use of estimation methods than annual financial 
reports. 

 

AASB 134.42 2) Appendix C to AASB 134 provides examples of the use of estimates in interim 
periods. 

 

Restatement of previously reported interim periods   

AASB 134.43 A change in accounting policy, other than one for which the transition is specified by a 
new Australian Accounting Standard, shall be reflected by: 

 

 (a) restating the financial statements of prior interim periods of the current annual 
reporting period and the comparable interim periods of any prior annual reporting 
periods that will be restated in the annual financial statements in accordance with 
AASB 108; or 

 

 (b) when it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effect at the beginning of the 
annual reporting period of applying a new accounting policy to all prior periods, 
adjusting the financial statements of prior interim periods of the current annual 
reporting period, and comparable interim periods of prior annual reporting periods 
to apply the new accounting policy prospectively from the earliest date 
practicable. 

 

AASB 134.44 Note: One objective of the preceding principle is to ensure that a single accounting 
policy is applied to a particular class of transactions throughout an entire annual 
reporting period. Under AASB 108, a change in accounting policy is reflected by 
retrospective application, with restatement of prior period financial data as far 
back as is practicable. However, if the cumulative amount of the adjustment 
relating to prior annual reporting periods is impracticable to determine, then under 
AASB 108 the new policy is applied prospectively from the earliest date 
practicable. The effect of the principle in paragraph 43 is to require that within the 
current annual reporting period any change in accounting policy is applied either 
retrospectively or, if that is not practicable, prospectively, from no later than the 
beginning of the annual reporting period. 

 

Business combinations AASB 3(2008)  

 Where business combinations have occurred during the interim period, AASB 134.16(i) 
requires the fund to disclose all of the details prescribed for annual financial statements by 
AASB 3 Business Combinations. 

 

AASB 3.59 The acquirer shall disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to 
evaluate the nature and financial effect of business combinations that occur either: 
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 (a) during the current reporting period; or  

 (b) after the end of the reporting period but before the financial statements are authorised 
for issue. 

 

 Note: Paragraphs B64 to B66 of AASB 3(2008), set out below, specify the minimum 
disclosures required to satisfy this requirement. 

 

Business combinations occurring during the reporting period  

AASB 3.B65 Note: For individually immaterial business combinations occurring during the reporting period 
that are material collectively, the acquirer shall disclose in aggregate the information 
required by B64(a) – (q) listed below. 

 

 The acquirer shall disclose the following information for each business combination that 
occurs during the reporting period: 

 

AASB 
3.B64(a) 

(a) the name and a description of the acquiree;  

AASB 
3.B64(b) 

(b) the acquisition date;   

AASB 
3.B64(c) 

(c) the percentage of voting equity interests acquired;  

AASB 
3.B64(d) 

(d) the primary reasons for the business combination and a description of how the 
acquirer obtained control of the acquiree; 

 

AASB 
3.B64(e) 

(e) a qualitative description of the factors that make up the goodwill recognised, such as 
expected synergies from combining operations of the acquiree and the acquirer, 
intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition or other factors; 

 

AASB 
3.B64(f) 

(f) the acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred and the acquisition-
date fair value of each major class of consideration, such as: 

 

 (i) cash;  

 (ii) other tangible or intangible assets, including a business or subsidiary of the 
acquirer; 

 

 (iii) liabilities incurred, for example, a liability for contingent consideration; and  

 (iv) equity interests of the acquirer, including the number of instruments or interests 
issued or issuable and the method of determining the fair value of those 
instruments or interests; 

 

AASB 
3.B64(g) 

(g) for contingent consideration arrangements and indemnification assets:  

 (i) the amount recognised as of the acquisition date;  

 (ii) a description of the arrangement and the basis for determining the amount of 
the payment; and 

 

 (iii) an estimate of the range of outcomes (undiscounted) or, if a range cannot be 
estimated, that fact and the reasons why a range cannot be estimated. If the 
maximum amount of the payment is unlimited, the acquirer shall disclose that 
fact; 

 

AASB 
3.B64(h) 

(h) for acquired receivables (disclosures required by major class of receivable):  

 (i) the fair value of the receivables;  

 (ii) the gross contractual amounts receivable; and  

 (iii) the best estimate at the acquisition date of the contractual cash flows not 
expected to be collected; 

 

AASB 
3.B64(i) 

(i) the amounts recognised as of the acquisition date for each major class of assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed; 

 

AASB 
3.B64(j) 

(j) for each contingent liability recognised in accordance with paragraph 23, the 
information required in paragraph 85 of AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets: 

 

AASB 
137.85(a) 

(a) a brief description of the nature of the obligation and the expected timing of any 
resulting outflows of economic benefits; 

 



Presentation and disclosure checklist 

 Model managed investment scheme financial statement for the half year ending December 31, 2010 49 

Reference Presentation/disclosure requirement Yes / No / N/A 

AASB 
137.85(b) 

(b) an indication of the uncertainties about the amount or timing of those outflows. 
Where necessary to provide adequate information, a fund shall disclose the 
major assumptions made concerning future events, as addressed in paragraph 
48 of AASB 137; and 

 

AASB 
137.85(c) 

(c) the amount of any expected reimbursement, stating the amount of any asset 
that has been recognised for that expected reimbursement. 

 

AASB 
3.B64(j) 

If a contingent liability is not recognised because its fair value cannot be measured 
reliably, the acquirer shall disclose the information required by paragraph 86 of AASB 
137: 

 

AASB 137.86 Unless the possibility of any outflow in settlement is remote, a fund shall disclose for 
each class of contingent liability at the reporting date a brief description of the nature 
of the contingent liability and, where practicable: 

 

AASB 
137.86(a) 

(a) an estimate of its financial effect, measured under paragraphs 36-52 of AASB 
137;  

 

AASB 
137.86(b) 

(b) an indication of the uncertainties relating to the amount or timing of any outflow; 
and 

 

AASB 
137.86(c) 

(c) the possibility of any reimbursement.   

AASB 
3.B64(j) 

If a contingent liability is not recognised because its fair value cannot be measured 
reliably, the acquirer shall disclose the reasons why the liability cannot be measured 
reliably; 

 

AASB 
3.B64(k) 

(k) the total amount of goodwill that is expected to be deductible for tax purposes;  

AASB 
3.B64(l) 

(l) for transactions that are recognised separately from the acquisition of assets and 
assumption of liabilities in the business combination in accordance with paragraph 51 
of AASB 3(2008) (pre-existing relationships): 

 

 (i) a description of each transaction;  

 (ii) how the acquirer accounted for each transaction;  

 (iii) the amounts recognised for each transaction and the line item in the financial 
statements in which each amount is recognised; and 

 

 (iv) if the transaction is the effective settlement of a pre-existing relationship, the 
method used to determine the settlement amount; 

 

AASB 
3.B64(m) 

(m) the disclosure of separately recognised transactions required by (l) shall include the 
amount of acquisition-related costs and, separately, the amount of those costs 
recognised as an expense and the line item or items in the statement of 
comprehensive income in which those expenses are recognised. The amount of any 
issue costs not recognised as an expense and how they were recognised shall also be 
disclosed; 

 

AASB 
3.B64(n) 

(n) in a bargain purchase:  

 (i) the amount of any gain recognised in accordance with paragraph 34 of AASB 
3(2008) and the line item in the statement of comprehensive income in which 
the gain is recognised; and 

 

 (ii) a description of the reasons why the transaction resulted in a gain;  

AASB 
3.B64(o) 

(o) for each business combination in which the acquirer holds less than 100 per cent of 
the equity interests in the acquiree at the acquisition date: 

 

 (i) the amount of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree recognised at the 
acquisition date and the measurement basis for that amount; and 

 

 (ii) for each non-controlling interest in an acquiree measured at fair value, the 
valuation techniques and key model inputs used for determining that value; 

 

AASB 
3.B64(p) 

(p) in a business combination achieved in stages:  

 (i) the acquisition-date fair value of the equity interest in the acquiree held by the 
acquirer immediately before the acquisition date; and 
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 (ii) the amount of any gain or loss recognised as a result of remeasuring to fair 
value the equity interest in the acquiree held by the acquirer before the business 
combination (see paragraph 42 of AASB 3(2008)) and the line item in the 
statement of comprehensive income in which that gain or loss is recognised; 
and 

 

AASB 
3.B64(q) 

(q) the following information;   

 (i) the amounts of revenue and profit or loss of the acquiree since the acquisition 
date included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the 
reporting period; and 

 

 (ii) the revenue and profit or loss of the combined fund for the current reporting 
period as though the acquisition date for all business combinations that 
occurred during the year had been as of the beginning of the annual reporting 
period. 

 

AASB 
3.B64(q) 

If disclosure of any of the information required by AASB 3(2008).B64(q) is impracticable (as 
defined in AASB 108), the acquirer shall disclose that fact and explain why the disclosure is 
impracticable. 

 

Business combinations effected after the end of the reporting period  

AASB 3.B66 If the acquisition date of a business combination is after the end of the reporting period but 
before the financial statements are authorised for issue, the acquirer shall disclose the 
information required by paragraph B64 of AASB 3(2008) (see above) unless the initial 
accounting for the business combination is incomplete at the time the financial statements 
are authorised for issue. In that situation, the acquirer shall describe which disclosures could 
not be made and the reasons why they cannot be made. 

 

The effect of adjustments recognised that relate to business combinations that occurred in the 
period or previous reporting periods 

 

AASB 3.61 The acquirer shall disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to 
evaluate the financial effects of adjustments recognised in the current reporting period that 
relate to business combinations that occurred in the period or in previous reporting periods. 

 

 Note: Paragraph B67 of AASB 3(2008), set out below, specifies the minimum disclosures 
required to satisfy this requirement. 

 

 The fund shall disclose the following information for each material business combination or in 
the aggregate for individually immaterial business combinations that are material collectively: 

 

AASB 
3.B67(a) 

(a) if the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete (see paragraph 45 of 
AASB 3(2008)) for particular assets, liabilities, non-controlling interests or items of 
consideration and the amounts recognised in the financial statements for the business 
combination thus have been determined only provisionally: 

 

 (i) the reasons why the initial accounting for the business combination is 
incomplete; 

 

 (ii) the assets, liabilities, equity interests or items of consideration for which the 
initial accounting is incomplete; and 

 

 (iii) the nature and amount of any measurement period adjustments recognised 
during the reporting period in accordance with paragraph 49 of AASB 3(2008); 

 

AASB 
3.B67(b) 

(b) for each reporting period after the acquisition date until the fund collects, sells or 
otherwise loses the right to a contingent consideration asset, or until the fund settles a 
contingent consideration liability or the liability is cancelled or expires: 

 

 (i) any changes in the recognised amounts, including any differences arising upon 
settlement; 

 

 (ii) any changes in the range of outcomes (undiscounted) and the reasons for those 
changes; and 

 

 (iii) the valuation techniques and key model inputs used to measure contingent 
consideration; 

 

AASB 
3.B67(c) 

(c) for contingent liabilities recognised in a business combination, the acquirer shall 
disclose the information required by paragraphs 84 (below) and 85 (refer page D13) of 
AASB 137 for each class of provision: 
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AASB 137.84 For each class of provision, a fund shall disclose:  

(a) the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the period;  

(b)  additional provisions made in the period, including increases to existing 
provisions;  

(c)  amounts used (that is, incurred and charged against the provision) during the 
period;  

(d)  unused amounts reversed during the period; and  

(e)  the increase during the period in the discounted amount arising from the 
passage of time and the effect of any change in the discount rate.  

Comparative information is not required. 

 

AASB 
3.B67(d) 

(d) a reconciliation of the carrying amount of goodwill at the beginning and end of the 
reporting period showing separately: 

 

 (i) the gross amount and accumulated impairment losses at the beginning of the 
reporting period; 

 

 (ii) additional goodwill recognised during the reporting period, except goodwill 
included in a disposal group that, on acquisition, meets the criteria to be 
classified as held for sale in accordance with AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held 
for Sale and Discontinued Operations; 

 

 (iii) adjustments resulting from the subsequent recognition of deferred tax assets 
during the reporting period in accordance with paragraph 67 of AASB 3(2008); 

 

 (iv) goodwill included in a disposal group classified as held for sale in accordance 
with AASB 5 and goodwill derecognised during the reporting period without 
having previously been included in a disposal group classified as held for sale; 

 

 (v) impairment losses recognised during the reporting period in accordance with 
AASB 136 Impairment of Assets (AASB 136 requires disclosure of information 
about the recoverable amount and impairment of goodwill in addition to this 
requirement.); 

 

 (vi) net exchange rate differences arising during the reporting period in accordance 
with AASB 121 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates; 

 

 (vii) any other changes in the carrying amount during the reporting period; and  

 (viii) the gross amount and accumulated impairment losses at the end of the 
reporting period. 

 

AASB 
3.B67(e) 

(e) the amount and an explanation of any gain or loss recognised in the current reporting 
period that both: 

 

 (i) relates to the identifiable assets acquired or liabilities assumed in a business 
combination that was effected in the current or previous reporting period; and 

 

 (ii) is of such a size, nature or incidence that disclosure is relevant to understanding 
the combined fund’s financial statements. 

 

AASB 3.63 If the specific disclosures required by AASB 3(2008) and other Australian Accounting 
Standards do not meet the objective set out in paragraphs 59 and 61 of AASB 3(2008) (see 
above), the acquirer shall disclose whatever additional information is necessary to meet 
those objectives. 
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